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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

ECoGreen is the leading fine
nemicals company in the PRC
tther advanced towards '
e of the major global
flavour and fragrance suppliers
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Review

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | would like to report
to our shareholders the Group’s financial results for the year ended 31
December 2009.

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately RMB728 million in 2009,
representing a slight decrease of 2% compared with last year. EBITDA
for 2009 was RMB174 million, a 3% decline from RMB179 million for
previous year. Profit attributable to shareholders decreased by 6% to
RMB107 million. Basic earnings per share amounted to RMB0.231 in
2009, compared with RMB0.244 in 2008. To thank our shareholders for
their enduring support, the Board proposed to declare a final dividend of
HK3 cents per share for the year, subject to the shareholders’ approval in
the upcoming general meeting. Together with an interim dividend of HKO.8
cents per share, the total dividend distribution for the year amounts to
HK3.8 cents (2008: HK4.1 cents) per share.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
4 BRI TEEER AT

G}
AABRREFENERREFAEEEEZ—F
FhET_A=+—HULFEZEE -

TETNFEEROATRETARE  BEAF
LB BN T #R2% - HINARFTFIE - BiIE - &
MBS 2w EBITDA ) A1 741ETT AR 82k
FHEBITDAZ1.79E T AR LL EKIE B 3%
BE SRR R BB 6% =1.07 BT AR -
EAEFA0.231TTARE - HHER_ZTZTN
FEREREFNA0.244TTARE - BT BIRE
AR EESERTRATERARE
SREEESN - HASRENEERERAT RS
o o B [E) R HARR B R EEE0.81L  AFE 2
I E DIk AEREE3.8 - HEEFHR
BAEFRAEEAA -



Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

Review (continued)

The financial tsunami, which had swept across the globe since the fourth
quarter of 2008, continued to dampen the world’s economy throughout
the year 2009. Most countries suffered from different degrees of recession
and slowdown. The severe turbulence and confidence crisis of the global
market in the first half of 2009 had led to a tightening of commercial credit
and a shrinking of overseas demand. Many companies were severely
affected as a result of the falling market confidence and deteriorating
overseas demand.

The Group’s major clients are the world’s few largest international flavour
and fragrance enterprises. They were inevitably affected by the economic
crisis. In 2009, they recorded the most dramatic change in sales and
earnings in decades. In particular, high-end businesses with their weak
results, altered their trend of sustainable growth in the past years. The
global demand for production declined as a massive inventory reduction
took place in the first half of 2009. Most customers from developed
markets adopted a prudent approach in spending during the first half of the
year. They kept on destocking, postponed their procurement and reduced
their purchase. Therefore, the Group, notwithstanding its leading position
in the industry, posted a decline in its sales in the first half of the year.
The Group’s business resumed and became stable in the second half as
monthly sales picked up after customer finished their inventory reduction
and our further effort on negotiations with customers. The Group’s turnover
for the second half rose by 14 percentage points over the first half and was
slightly lower than that for the second half of the previous financial year.
This demonstrated that the Group’s operation, after undergoing a time of
turbulence in 2009, has gradually regained its growth momentum.

The Group is currently using botanic essential oils, which are rich natural
resources in China, as its major raw materials, of which turpentine
accounts for the largest share. The nationwide procurement network built
up by the Group in the early stage and its related resources management
strategies enabled it to secure a stable supply of raw materials amid violent
fluctuations of the raw materials markets during the year. Yet, the financial
crisis adversely affected the industry supply and demand in the world,
resulting a material change in the cost structure of the gum rosin and gum
turpentine sectors. Gum turpentine enjoys an inelastic demand as it has an
extensive application. At the same time, as it is a kind of renewable natural
resources, its supply can be adversely affected by force majeure, such as
bad weather. As a result, its price stood at a record high in the year and
kept rising steadily. Although the Group is committed to adopting more
cost-saving measures, such as increasing its product price modestly and
launching new product mix with higher margin to minimize the negative
impacts from rising raw material cost, the profitability of the Group’s
products has been inevitably weakened as the raw material cost rose. The
gross profit margin decreased by 2.7 percentage points from 28.4% in
2008 to 25.7%.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

Review (continued)

Amid the challenging operational environment, the Group adheres to its
customer-oriented commitment by offering quality products with stable
supply to strengthen customer relationships, with an aim to be one of the
world’s most influential suppliers of aroma chemicals. The Group becomes
one of the three largest suppliers in the world, with its Dihydromyrcenol
and terpene chemicals output accounting for approximately 25% of the
world’s total supply. Other newly launched aroma chemicals were also well
received in the international market, which would eventually further enlarge
the Group’s market share.

The Group has always been seeking to strengthen its competitiveness
continously through an increase its production capacity of quality products
and a development of new technologies to reduce costs. The Group’s
management team is fully dedicated to its business in spite of difficult or
easy times. Thanks to the joint efforts of all staff with a same goal, the
Group managed to offer value-added services for its customers under the
challenging environment. Against the backdrop of the economic downturn
brought by the financial turmoil and the changes in investment conditions,
the Group adopted prudent investment strategies by adjusting construction
schedule for the new production facility at Changtai, Fujian Province .
Except substructure and basic civil works were in progress in the first
half of the year, the main construction of the project was appropriately
postponed by three quarters. Only when the global economy showed
signs of stabilization and recovery in the last quarter, the project has re-
started its main construction, and is expected to progress by stages and
start to generate revenue by the end of 2010. The Group may conduct
further review and proper adjustment subject to any possible changes
of the market and economic environment during the course of its future
implementation of this project.
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Chairman’s Statement

TREHRESE

Outlook

The year 2009 was a year of hardship for most industries. Yet thanks to
loosened credit facility and fiscal stimulus policies implemented by China,
the U.S., major developed countries as well as emerging economies,
customers’ confidence improved in 2010, which gradually restored the
entire market demand. The pace of economic recovery is expected to
accelerate. Nonetheless, price hike in some essential raw materials and
rising production cost, due possibly to market expectation on inflation,
may hinder the recovery of the fragile economy. As a result, the economic
environment will remain unclear in the upcoming year and the operations
may still face challenges. The Group is, therefore, taking the following
measures to confront possible challenges in the future, and is determined
to strive for a better performance in the coming year.

1)

Our unique, innovative technology and industry experience have
built up our core competence. It is expected that the Group will put
more efforts in introducing the world’s latest jet-spray technologies
into its major plants and actualizing a large-scale commercialisation
in 2010 when the market improves. Such a technology innovation
can boost the existing production capacity of key products by 50%
gradually and save more than 50% of the energy consumed in use of
existing technologies. The advancement can be made on the existing
infrastructure to achieve a large productivity enhancement while
minimizing related capital expenditure. Through such revolutionary
advancement in technology, the production cost of the Group can
be further reduced and the competitiveness of the products can be
reinforced. The advancement work is expected to commence soon
and trial production will be carried out by late 2010. It is believed that
the Group’s products will achieve a further dominant share in global
market when the operation of innovated plant reaches its normal
efficiency and economies of scale.

The Group will strive to transform into a Total-solutions provider
of aroma chemicals, at the same time continue to strengthen and
develop its partnership with major international flavor and fragrance
customers in the coming year. Under the partnership framework,
the Group will launch new, edgy product mix, by which the Group’s
operating performance will be improved.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

Outlook (continued)

3)

8

Pressure from rising raw material costs is inevitable for the whole
industry. To cope with this, the Group will continue its operative
measures including managing effectively the supply chain of raw
material procurement while strengthening logistics control. Besides,
it will navigate the historical opportunities afforded by China’s new
policies in forestry by formulating a cooperation strategy to work with
upstream forestry players so as to make necessary changes to the
Group’s tradition of raw material supply. It is also a prerequisite for
the Group to further explore opportunities of horizontal merger and
acquisition. As the fluctuation in forestry chemicals strikes against all
downstream sectors recently, integration is again inexorable among
sectors. Leveraging on its leading position in turpentine processing,
the Group will take advantage of new opportunities to refine its
positioning. We also believe that the upstream of forestry chemical
industry, a renewable resources sector, will sustain profitability in
future. The Group will actively participate in upstream investment and
integration to create synergies between upstream and downstream
sectors.

Meanwhile, the first stage of Changtai Plant construction will complete
and trial production will be carried out by late 2010. Following the
commencement in production, the plant is expected to play a pivotal
role timely in the Group’s new cooperation with global industry, and
it will help reinforce the crucial foundation for the Group’s business
exploration into areas of other special chemicals. In addition, a GMP
accredited workshop, which complies with the standards of medicines
and food production, will be set up in the Haichang Plant, and
contribute revenue to the Group gradually from late 2010.

The Group has been committed to serving as a role model of green
chemistry player in the industry. Given the trend towards low carbon
emission, energy saving and discharges reduction, the Group adheres
to its principles of green chemistry, on its technological advancement
in Haichang Plant and also development of Changtai Plant. Besides
saving energy and reducing consumption and discharge to boost
overall competitiveness, the Group also complies strictly with both
domestic and international standards (especially European REACH)
of fine chemical industry and all related environmental and resources
protection ordinances, so that it can meet the requirements of
all international customers for supplier qualifications, and fulfill its
corporate social responsibilities.

While developing its existing business, the Group will seek and grasp
opportunities proactively in integrating upstream business with a view
to expanding business through horizontal merger and acquisition that
may give synergies. The Group will by all means strive to enhance its
industrial value, strengthen its business foundation and accelerate
further growth.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

Outlook (continued)
Furthermore, the Group will further strengthen its working capital utilization
and its expenses control, refine its capital structure for risks management
and profitability improvement. It will also endeavor to step up management
functions in internal control, performance appraisal, risk management and
corporate governance.

As the outlook on global economy may improve in 2010, the constant
growth of China’s economy and growing demand for fast-moving
consumer products in emerging markets will provide the Group with a
new valuable opportunity for development. Despite the macroeconomic
environment is fraught with some uncertainties, the Group is confident of,
and optimistic towards its upstream business development, its long-term
prospect of aroma chemical and food additive business and its expansion
of other related business (such as special chemicals) in the foreseeable
future, thanks to stronger domestic consumption of its products of aroma
chemicals and food additives as they are the key components in daily
necessities.
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meets the international standards, with a view to creating more handsome
returns for our shareholders.

Yang Yirong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 April 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

EcoGreen specializes in natural chiemicals & =
and natural-identical eghemical '

production with focus In

providing building blocks

for flavour, fragrance

and pharmaceutical products
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Final Dividend KHEIRE
The Directors will propose at the annual general meeting to be held on ZEH W -—_ZE—ZFF A+ \BEITZER
28 June 2010 payment of final dividend of HK3 cents per share for the RHEAFAE xRN _ET—ZTF+HF+,5H
year ended 31 December 2009 to be payable in cash on 16 July 2010to  BR —ZE—FE <A -+ /\B LY A QTS
shareholders whose names are listed on the register of members of the ZMZzERER‘EEE—_ZEZLFEF+_A=+—H
Company on 28 June 2010. Together with the interim dividend of HK0.8  |F FEE IR REIIR SRR B FAR3B(L - ERFH HY
cents (2008: HK1.2 cents) per share, this will bring the total dividend 5 EFIR0SEBN(ZEZNE - 1.2/81l) » NE
distribution for the year to HK3.8 cents (2008: HK4.1 cents) per share. EZREDIRETE AFIRISHEIN(ZEZT N\E -
4178 -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WD

Closure of Registers of Members

The transfer books and register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 24 June 2010 to Monday, 28 June 2010, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:00 p.m. on Wednesday, 23
June 2010.

Business Review

The Group derives its revenue primarily from the manufacturing and
trading businesses. The manufacturing business includes the production
and sales of aroma chemicals, natural extracts and intermediates.
Breakdown of revenue by operating segments is as follow:

EENRERDBFEFE

ARAER - E-ZFFAA-THEEHNE
—E-TERAT/\HEH —(EREEM
REERERRECTTE BB TERER
MBFPERTE - RTAEREZHIKRHR
B ABFEEREREE AR-F—F
FRAZT=HBEB=TTNUREAMXIAR
ARMNBFERIREEEERBRAAF - i
U AEBEFERKBR28EE EEP L2612 -

E3 Sk
AEENREEBRALEERESER - £E
EHBRHRENRHEENTELRMm  RARIY
KAELE - EEDEHOREDINIAT

2009 2008
“EENEF ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETIT
Revenue Wz
Manufacturing HE 655,959 630,694
Trading = 72,535 109,279
Total revenue g 728,494 739,973
A further breakdown of turnover by products are as follows: EmEEELTOT
Turnover
B
2009 2008
—EEhEF —EENF
RMB’000 % of total RMB’000 % of total
Fr L% Tt ek
AR =Ry AR EXziEd
Manufacturing EE
Aroma chemicals SECEm 486,651 67% 453,744 61%
Natural extracts RATEEY) 113,084 15% 108,997 15%
Intermediates 38 56,224 8% 67,952 9%
655,959 90% 630,694 85%
Trading g5 72,535 10% 109,279 15%
Turnover B 728,494 100% 739,973 100%
ANNUAL REPORT 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEWR DM

Business Review (continued)

In 2009, revenue from our manufacturing business was able to sustain
a stable growth. The growth for our three major products within the
manufacturing business reached 4%. The Group’s turnover for the year
was RMB728 million, a slight decrease of 2% from the previous year.
Profit attributable to shareholders dropped to RMB107 million by 6%
from the previous year. Basic earnings per share were approximately
RMB23 cents.

Manufacturing

(i)

(i)

12

Aroma Chemicals

Aroma Chemicals continued to be the Group’s core products
during the year under review, and constituted a stable and major
income source for the Group. Despite the global economic crisis,
since aroma chemicals are primarily used as functional ingredients
and key components in many daily consumer goods, with a
combined positive effect of its diversified applications and the
development in the emerging markets, market demand continued
to rise, the aroma chemical products continued to be the major
growth driver of the Group’s operation.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, with increases in both
orders placed by existing customers and on the selling prices,
turnover of aroma chemicals increased by 7% to RMB487 million
(2008: RMB454 million), accounting for 67% of the Group’s
turnover (2008: 61%) and a gross profit margin of 24.2% (2008:
27.5%). Dihydromyrcenol was the major contributor which brought
a revenue of RMB127 million to the Group. Its sales was up 9%
over previous year and accounted for 26% of the total revenue on
this product category.

In addition, the launch of certain new food flavor chemicals last
year was well received by the market. The production has already
contributed RMB73.8 million to the Group’s revenue, with a profit
margin amounted to 38%, which is higher than the profit margin
of our existing fragrance chemicals products and represents one
of our new source in profitability for our future growth.

Natural Extracts

In respect of the Natural Extracts products, apart from existing
natural pharmaceutical raw materials, the Group has been
actively engaged in the development of food additives business
for the production of food ingredients, fast food, frozen food and
pet nutrition food, which is produced with purification and bio-
conversion technologies from natural produces. Natural extracts
mainly include seafood, meat and mushroom extracts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEWR DM

Business Review (continued)
Manufacturing (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Natural Extracts (continued)

During the year under review, the Group’s natural extract
products maintained steady growth as the new food additives
business has still been advancing towards its full scale production
capability and this new business is still at the development stage,
while the market demand for existing natural pharmaceutical raw
materials just remained stable. Turnover from sale on Natural
Extracts sustained at RMB113 million (2008: RMB109 million),
accounting for 15% (2008:15%) of the Group’s sales. Gross profit
margin amounted to 26.4%, (2008: 30.2%). The performance
of Natural Cinnamic Aldehyde was relatively outstanding among
other Natural Extracts. This product contributed revenue of
RMB38.9 million to the Group and its sales surged by 17% over
the corresponding period last year and accounted for 34% of the
total revenue for this product category.

Intermediates

Besides the chiral pharmaceuticals and intermediates, the
Group also applies similar advanced technologies of synthesis to
produce agrochemical intermediates, which will later be turned
into the kind of eco-pesticide.

During the year under review, due to slow-down of the market
demand, orders for the Group’s intermediate products dropped
mildly. Turnover fell by 17% year-on-year to RMB56.2 million (2008:
RMB68.0 million), accounting for 8% (2008: 9%) of the Group’s
sales. Gross profit margin was 56.1% (2008: 67.6%). The gross
profit margin of this product category of the Group was still higher
than its general peers in the industry. 3-Phenylpropanal Aldehyde
is the major intermediate produced by the Group. Sales for this
product accounted for 36% of the overall sales of inventories and
contributed revenue of RMB20.2 million to the Group.

Trading

The trading products include gum rosin, gum turpentine and other special
botanic essential oils and their by-products. This year, revenue from
the Group’s trading business was down 33% year-on-year to RMB72.5
million, accounting for 10% of the Group’s turnover. The contribution to
gross profit was approximately RMB7.6 million.
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BEENWR DM

Financial Review

Turnover

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2009 amounted
to RMB728 million, about the same as RMB740 million recorded in 2008.
The Group’s Phase Ill expansion of Haichang Plant was completed in
2008 and launched into production during the year. Meanwhile, the
rise in the selling prices of the existing products also contributed to the
increase in the Group’s operating income.

Geographically, domestic sales of the Group’s fine chemical products
was down 5% from 2008 whereas overseas sales of the Group’s fine
chemical products increased by 6%.

Gross profit

During the year under review, the Group’s gross profit totaled RMB187
million, down 11%. Gross profit margin dropped to 25.7% from 28.4% in
2008. Although the Group has raised the price of some products so as
to shift partial cost pressure to customers, the hike in raw material prices
still drove down the gross profit margin.

By the products category, the gross profit margin of aroma chemicals
decreased from 27.5% in 2008 to 24.2% in 2009, while natural extracts
decreased from 30.2% in 2008 to 26.4% this year. The profit margin of
intermediates decreased from 67.6% in 2008 to 56.1%. The gross profit
margin of trading products increased from 6.5% in 2008 to 11.2%.

Operating Income and Expense

The selling and marketing expenses in 2009 accounted for 2.7% of
the Group’s turnover (2008: 3.8%), while administrative expenses
represented 4.2% of turnover (2008: 5.6%). The Group’s operation
expense has dropped thanks to effective cost-cutting measures.

Finance Costs - Net

The net finance costs increased by approximately RMB9.3 million
compared with last year’s. This was mainly attributable to the Group’s
interest expense on its new short-term bank borrowings obtained during
the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

Financial Review (continued)

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense of the Group in 2009 was RMB13.3 million
representing an decrease of RMB6.2 million compared with that of
previous year. Effective tax rate of the Group is 11.0% (2008: 14.6%)
Under the new “Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic
of China” which became effective 1 January 2008, dividends payable
by PRC subsidiaries to equity holders outside the PRC are subject to
withholding taxes ranging from 5% to 10%.

Profit for the year

Profit for the year in 2009 was RMB107 million, representing a decrease
of 6% compared with RMB114 million in 2008. EBITDA for the year was
RMB174 million, a slight decrease from 179 million in 2008. Net profit
margin went down to 14.8% from 15.4% previous year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

During the year under review, the Group’s primary source of funding
mainly involved the cash generated from operating activities. For the
year ended 31 December 2009, net cash generated from operating
activities amounted to RMB179.3 million (2008: RMB67.4 million). With
the financial resources obtained from the Group’s operations, the Group
had utilized RMB43.5 million (2008: RMB87.9 million) in the capital
expenditure. During the year under review, the net cash outflow from
financing activities amounted to RMB7.7 million (net cash inflow in 2008:
RMB132 million).

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had cash and bank deposits of
approximately RMB542 million (2007: RMB424 million). The average
inventory turnover days, average trade receivable turnover days and
average trade payable turnover days were 53 days, 100 days and 48
days respectively (2008: 46, 89 and 44 days).
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BEEWR DM

Financial Review (continued)

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure (continued)
The Group’s financial position remains very solid and healthy during the
year under review. As at 31 December 2009, the net current assets and
the current ratio of the Group were approximately RMB502 million (2008:
RMB548 million) and 2.4 (2008: 3.4) respectively.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had borrowings of approximately
RMB353 million (2008: RMB345 million). Among them, outstanding
short-term borrowings amounted to RMB253 million (2008: RMB121
million). As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s ratio of total borrowings
to total equity, was approximately 42% (2008: 46%) and the Group’s
net cash balance, being cash and cash equivalents plus pledged bank
deposits less borrowings amounted to RMB189 million (2008: RMB78.5
million).

With the positive cash inflow from the Group’s operations, its available
banking facilities and its existing cash resources, the Group has very
strong liquidity and sufficient financial resources to meet its commitments,
working capital requirements and future investments for expansion.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2009, bank deposits of RMB27.1 million (2008:
RMB37.4 million) and certain property, plant and equipment of the
Group with an aggregate net book value of about RMB84.9 million
(2008: RMB70.1 million) have been pledged to secure the Group’s bank
borrowings. As at 31 December 2009, no land use rights were pledged
(2008: nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2009, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEWR DM

Financial Review (continued)

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately RMB21.3 million (2008: RMB38.3 million) in respect of
purchases of property, plant and equipment, construction-in-progress,
product development projects and land use rights.

Treasury Policies and Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates
The Group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and transactions are mainly
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars
with its operation mainly in the PRC. As at 31 December 2009, the
Group’s borrowings of approximately RMB171 million and RMB181
million were denominated in Renminbi and United States dollars,
respectively. The Group’s cash and bank deposits (comprise cash and
cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits) denominated in Renminbi
amounted to RMB505.2 million of the total balance, with the remaining
balance of approximately RMB36.7 million denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars.

The Group’s foremost exposure to the foreign exchange fluctuations
was caused by the revaluation of Renminbi during the year under
review. The Group’s export sales are, in majority, denominated in
United States dollars. Nevertheless, the Group has not experienced any
material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of
fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the year. The Group will
conduct periodic review of its exposure to foreign exchange risk and may
use proper financial instrument and financing arrangement for hedging
purpose when considered appropriate.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had 342 full-time employees,
among whom 338 were based in the PRC. For the year under review,
the total employment costs incurred for 2009 including directors’
emoluments amounted to RMB27.4 million. The Group has established
its human resources policies and procedures with a view to deploy the
incentives and rewards of the remuneration system. The remuneration
package offered to the staff is appropriate for the duties and in line with
the prevailing market terms. Staff benefits, including medical coverage
and provident funds, are provided to employees. The Group has also
established effective performance evaluation system in which employees
are properly rewarded on a performance-related basis under the Group’s
salary and bonus system. The Group has adopted a share option scheme
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the management,
key technician and other eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

The board of directors of EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Ltd. (the
“Company”) (the “Board”) acknowledges the importance of and benefit
from good corporate governance practices and is committed to
improving the corporate governance practices in order to enhance better
transparency and to ensure that business activities and decision making
processes are regulated in a proper manner to safeguard the interests of
shareholders.

The Company has adopted and applied the code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the then prevailing Rules
(the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the
year ended 31 December 2009. The Company periodically reviews its
corporate governance practices to ensure its continuous compliance
with the CG Code. In the year under review, the Company has complied
with most of the Code Provisions save for the deviations from the Code
Provisions A.2.1. The following summarises the Company’s corporate
governance practices and explains deviations, if any, from the CG Code.

The Board

Responsibilities

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for leading the Group
in a responsible and effective manner. The Board provides leadership
and formulates strategic policies and plans of the Group with a view to
enhancing shareholder interests while the day-to-day operations of the
Group are delegated to the management.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the Group,
including: objectives and overall strategies of the Group; annual budgets
and financial matters; equity related transactions such as issue of
shares/options and repurchase of shares; dividend; raising of capital
loan; determination of major business strategy; merger and acquisition;
major investment; annual financial budget in turnover, profitability and
capital expenditure; review and approval of financial performance and
announcement; and matters as required by laws and ordinance.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulation
are followed.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

The Board (continued)

Responsibilities (continued)

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The Directors are continually updated with the regulatory requirements,
business activities and development of the Company to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Through regular Board meetings,
all Directors are kept abreast of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

The management has the obligation to supply the Board and the various
Committees with adequate information in a timely manner to enable the
members to make informed decisions. Each Director has separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management to acquire
more information than is volunteered by management and to make
further enquiries if necessary.

The functions delegated to management are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management.

Composition

The Board currently comprises a total of nine members including
five Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director (“the NED”) and
three Independent Non-executive Directors (“the INED”). The Board’s
composition covers a balance of expertise, skills and industry experience
so as to bring in valuable contributions and advices for the development
of the Group’s business. The NED and INED together have substantial
experience in fields of auditing, legal matters, business, accounting,
corporate internal control and regulatory affairs. Through active
participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving on Board committees,
all NED and INED make various contributions to the effective direction of
the Group.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each INED
of his independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all INED to be independent in accordance with
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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TEERRE

The Board (continued)

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group.
A total of four board meetings were held during the year. The individual
attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2009 is set out below:

BEEEH)
ExgeR
EFEENFATHSEEN AEEEEERRRE -
EEBRUBRE - FRAERBIT4RESES S
FoBEZETNFT-_AZ=+—HLEFE "

EEENEZLLZ FTHZESSENLER
ZEgERCHFELHOT

Attendance/Number of meetings

HEBITEERE

Remuneration Audit
Name of Director Note Board Committee Committee
BEEHA B &E EEg FHEEE BHREER
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BITES
Mr. Yang Yirong (Chairman) BRE T E(EE) 4/4  N/ATEA  NATEA
Mr. Gong Xionghui B A 4/4  N/ATNER  NATEA
Ms. Lu Jiahua EREZL 3/4 N/A i A N/A R iEF
Mr. Lin Like MO A 2/4  NAMNEE NATNER
Mr. Han Huan Guang BEOLLAE () 4/4 2/2  N/ATiEA
NED FHTES
Mr. Feng Tao (Vice Chairman) RELE(EIEE) 0/4  NAMNER NANEHR
INED BYFHITES
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen (iv) (v) ‘E’i\f‘ﬁi (i (iii 4/4 2/2 3/3
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John (v) (vi) G (i) (i 4/4 2/2 3/3
Mr. Zheng Lansun (v) (vi) %B%%i%?ai (iii) (iv) 0/4 0/2 0/3
Notes: BIRE -
0] Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 0] HFNEEBSERF -
(ii) Chairman of the Audit Committee. (ii BENEEGERF -
(i) Member of the Remuneration Committee. (i) FMEEGKE -
( (i

iv) Member of the Audit Committee.

Notices of regular board meetings are served to all Directors at least
14 days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given
for other Board meetings. Agenda and Board papers together with
complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days
before each Board meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them
to make informed decision. Minutes of all Board meetings and committee
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.
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The Board (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

According to current Board practice, any material transaction which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened board
meeting. The Company’s Articles of Association also contain provisions
requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors
or any of their associates have a material interest.

Appointment, rotation and re-election of Directors

The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of Directors and assessing the independence of INED. The
Board reviewed its own structure, size and composition regularly
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company. There
were no meeting held for the nomination of Directors during the year.

In accordance with the CG Code and the Company’s Articles of
Association, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation once every
three years and being eligible, can offer themselves for re-election.

Term of appointment of NED and INED

All NED and INED were appointed for an initial term of not more than
one year and will be renewable automatically for successive term of one
year until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party or the other. All NED and INED are subject
to retirement by rotation once every three years and are subject to
re-election.

Indemnification

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal actions against its Directors and officers. The Board reviews the
extent of this insurance annually.
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Segregation of Rules of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ”)

The Company has not yet adopted A.2.1. Under the code provision A.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and CEO should be separate
and would not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

The Company does not presently have any officer with the title CEO.
At present, Mr. Yang Yirong, being the Chairman and the President of
the Company, is responsible for the strategic planning, formulation of
overall corporate development policy and running the business of the
Group as well as the duties of Chairman. The Board considers that,
due to the nature and extent of the Group’s operations, Mr. Yang is
the most appropriate chief executive because he possesses in-depth
knowledge and experience in fine chemicals business and is able to
ensure the sustainable development of the Group. Besides, he is the
founder, the chairman and the controlling shareholder of the Group since
its establishment and till now. Notwithstanding the above, the Board wiill
review the current structure from time to time. When at the appropriate
time and if candidate with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills and
experience can be identified within or outside the Group, the Company
may make the necessary amendments.

Board Committees

The Board has established two committees, namely the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties.

The chairmen of the committees will report the findings and
recommendations of the committees to the Board after each meeting.
The minutes of all meetings of the committees are circulated to the Board
for information.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Han Huan Guang is the chairman while all the three INED, namely,
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen, Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John and Dr. Zheng Lansun
are the members of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
establishing a formal and transparent procedures for developing policy
on the remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management,
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management,
ensuring the remuneration packages are sufficient to attract and retain
the Directors to run the Company successfully, to avoid over-paying and
ensure no Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his
own remuneration.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee met twice to
review and consider the remuneration policy and packages, including any
discretionary management bonus of the Executive Directors and senior
management by reference to market conditions, performance of the
Group and the individual and corporate goals.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the three INED, namely, Mr. Yau Fook
Chuen, Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John and Dr. Zheng Lansun. Mr. Yau is
the chairman of the Audit Committee and he possesses recongised
professional qualifications in accounting required by the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the qualified accountant or
external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b) To review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process by reference
to the work performed by the external auditor, their fees and
terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external
auditor; and

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held three meetings
with the senior management and the Company’s external auditor to
review the interim and annual financial statements, discuss internal
controls matters and the re-appointment of the external auditor. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the Group’s accounting principles
and practices, listing rules and statutory compliance and financial
reporting matters.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms not less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors
and all the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with all the
relevant requirements as set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2009.

Responsibilities in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The management provides such explanation and information to the
Board to facilitate an informed assessment of the financial and other
information put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements which give a true and fair view and the Board is responsible
for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of
annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. Meanwhile, the Directors are responsible for ensuring that
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
and that judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.
The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Board has prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.
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Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining a sound and
effective internal control system of the Group. The system includes a
defined management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensures the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensures compliance
with relevant laws and regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss, and to manage the risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems and in the achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Board periodically conducts review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal controls. The tasks include:

(i) access and review selected aspects of the Group’s activities and
internal controls;

(i) conduct regular comprehensive reviews of the practices,
procedures and internal controls of selected business and
supporting units and subsidiaries;

(iif) examine and investigate business ethics, conflicts of interest and
other company policy violations; and

(iv) report results of review to the senior management and make
recommendation where appropriate.

The Directors, through the Audit Committee, have conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

External Auditor

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the
Company received approximately RMB1.6 million for audit services
provided to the Group. The external auditor did not provide any non-audit
service to the Group during the year under review.
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Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

Details of the rights of shareholders and the procedures for conducting
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings will be explained during
the proceedings of meetings. The chairman of a meeting will answer any
questions from shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. The annual general meeting enables the Company’s
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman of
the Board and the chairman of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee have attended at the annual general meeting to be available
to answer the questions of the shareholders of the Company. Regular
meetings are also held with media, institutional investors and research
analysts to provide them the Group’s latest business development and
non-price sensitive information.

To promote effective communication, extensive information about the
Company business is provided in its interim and annual reports, which
are sent to shareholders, analysts and interested parties. The Company
also maintains a corporate website on which comprehensive information,
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information of the Group are provided.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEAERERE

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Yirong (Chairman and President)

Mr. Yang, aged 48, is the founder of the Group. He is responsible for
strategic planning and formulation of overall corporate development
policy for the Group. Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor’s degree in science,
majoring in chemistry from Huagiao University in 1982. Prior to founding
the Group in 1994, Mr. Yang has extensive experience in the fine
chemical manufacturing and trading and has more than ten years of
experience in natural organic chemistry research.

Mr. GONG Xionghui (Senior Vice President — Engineering Project
Management)

Mr. Gong, aged 46, is responsible for project construction and strategic
investment development. Mr. Gong holds a Master‘s degree in chemical
engineering from Xiamen University and has accumulated over 20 years
of experience in fine chemicals industry and qualified as an ISO 9000
auditor in the PRC in 1998. He joined the Group in September 1999.

Ms. LU Jiahua (Senior Vice President — Group Financial Control)

Ms. Lu, aged 43, oversees the finance and accounting and human
resources functions for the Group in the PRC. She has over 19 years
of experience in accounting, financial management, administration
management and internal auditing in a number of pharmaceutical and
fine chemical manufacturing enterprises. Ms. Lu holds a Bachelor’s
degree and a Master’s degree in economics and corporate management
from Xiamen University. She joined the Group in April 2002.

Mr. LIN Like (Senior Vice President — Group Operation and Technology)

Mr. Lin, aged 47, is responsible for the management of the Group’s
operation in aroma and natural products and research and development
functions for the Group. Mr. Lin oversees the research and development
department and other operational departments including the production
department and quality management department of the Group. Mr. Lin
graduated from the Chemistry Department of Huagiao University with
a Bachelor’s degree in science and graduated from the Guangzhou
Institute of Chemistry, Academic Sinica with a Master’s degree in
science. Mr. Lin has been engaged in the research and development of
fine chemicals for many years with extensive experience in the natural
products industry in China. He joined the Group in August 2004.
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EENSHREEAERERE

Directors (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. HAN Huan Guang (Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (Senior
Vice President — Group Strategic Investments and Capital Markets)

Mr. Han, aged 48, responsible for Group strategic investments, capital
markets and investor relations. He graduated from Zhongshan University
(FF LA E) with a Bachelor’s degree in biochemistry in 1982 and
obtained his Master’s degree in Business Administration from University
of Technology, Sydney, Australia in 1993. He has over 20 years’
experience in corporate finance, merger and acquisition, infrastructure
and new technology developments, management of listed and non-
listed companies in the PRC and overseas. Over the years, he has been
a Director, and then Managing Director in China Everbright Medicine
Co. Ltd. (a subsidiary of China Everbright Holdings Group), Livzon
Pharmaceutical Group Inc. and in other senior management positions in
Hong Kong, Singapore and Mainland companies. He has been appointed
as a Councilor of the China Society of Biotechnology, and also member
of some professional associations in the region. Mr. Han joined the
Group in September 2005 as a non-executive director, and became an
executive director from May 2006.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. FENG Tao (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Feng, aged 42, is the Chief Executive Officer of NewMargin Ventures
Capital Co. Ltd., which is a leading venture capital management company
in China. Commencing from 1999, Mr. Feng has been serving as the vice
president officer (8|=E1E) of The Foundation of Science & Technology
for Development of the State Planning Committee, State Economic &
Trade Commission of the PRC (FZE AR KABEBREEE HZ EE) and
Chinese Academy of Sciences. As one of pClienters of venture-capital
of China, Mr. Feng possesses extensive experience and knowledge of
both domestic and overseas markets. Mr. Feng was awarded the title of
“Top 10 most influential venture capitalists in China” in the “Asia-Pacific
Venture Capitalist Summit and Most Influential Venture Capitalists in
China Award Ceremony” in April 2005. He obtained a Master's degree
in science from the Department of Statistics and Applied Probability of
University of Alberta in June 1992. He joined the Group in September
2005.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAU Fook Chuen (Chairman of Audit Committee, Member of
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Yau, aged 52, is a practising accountant and has over 18 years
of experience in public accountancy practice which covers company
secretarial service, accountancy, auditing and taxation. He is a member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yau is currently the
proprietor of Yau & Wong, Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong.
He was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director in February
2004.

Mr. WONG Yik Chung, John (Member of Audit Committee, Member of
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Wong, aged 43, among being the Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, was also served as an Independent Non-
executive Director of Golden Resources Development International
Limited, CDW Holdings Limited and General Steel Holdings Inc,
companies listed in Hong Kong, Singapore and the United States
respectively. He is a professional accountant by training with more
than 17 years of experience in auditing and corporate finance work,
with extensive exposure to the business enterprise in the PRC. Mr.
Wong is currently the director to TMF China, a firm provides a variety of
professional outsourcing solutions to an international client base investing
in PRC. Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Melbourne. He is a
fellow member of the Australian Society of Certified Public Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He also
obtained a PRC Certificate of Independent Directorship in 2002. He was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director in February 2004.

Dr. ZHENG Lansun (Member of Audit Committee, Member of
Remuneration Committee)

Dr. Zheng, aged 55, is a member of the National Committee of the 10th
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (1B A RECA 7
2Z2FE+TREE2EEES®), representing the technology sector. He is also a
qualified academician (ft L) of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (F
FIEBR). Dr. Zheng received a Doctoral degree in philosophy from Rice
University in the United States of America and has engaged in chemistry
related research activities at Xiamen University. He was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director in February 2004.
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EENSHREEAERERE

Senior Management

Mr. XIE Rong Guo. (Vice President — Strategic Resources Management)
Mr. Xie, aged 47, Head of Strategic Resources Management Center.
Since he joined Ecogreen, Mr. Xie has been the management positions in
purchase department, logistic department and commercial department
and the general manager of strategic resources management. He has
excellent professional knowledge and rich experience in supply chain
management and strategic resources management.

Mr. LIN Zhigang (Vice President — Food Additives Business)

Mr. Lin, aged 39, Head of Food Additives Business. He holds a
Bachelor’s degree of economics obtained from Xiamen University. Prior
to joining the Group in June 1996, he worked in a foreign investment
enterprise and has concrete experience in sales and marketing
management, business development and production management.

Mr. YI Zhi Xiong (Vice President — Corporate Administration)

Mr. Vi, aged 48, Head of Corporate Administration. Mr. Yi majored in fine
chemicals in Tianjin University with a Bachelor’'s degree of engineering.
He has been the head of management in a large manufacturing company
before he joined Ecogreen in September 1998.

Mr. WONG Cang Yan (Head of President Office)

MR. Wong, aged 52, Head of President Office. Mr. Wong received
Bachelor’s degree of management science from National Chiao Tung
University. Before joining Ecogreen in July 2007, Mr. Wong has 27 years
work experience in enterprise management. During 2003 to 2005, he
was the management consultant of Ecogreen, helping the Group to build
the daily management system.

Mr. YAN Da Yi David (General Manager — Marketing and Sales of Aroma
Chemicals)

Mr. Yan, aged 49, General Manager of the Marketing and Sales of Aroma
Chemicals, Mr. Yan holds a Bachelor’s degree of Engineering. Mr. Yan
has 26 years work experience in Canada, Hong Kong and China. Before
joining the Group in May 2004, he worked for eight years in a well-
known software company in Hong Kong, for positions in marketing,
sales, servicing and administrative departments.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
30 G TEEAR AT

SREEBAS

HEE (FH — BB EREE)

B 4TH - AEEZBEEREIEE - 3
B RARTAR  BERE WK B
I R O R ER AR REEEE
B - AR E  RECEREAME -
BEEREY FRAEANEEMENLE Y
BRES -

MEM T4 (B4 — R AL FXED)

MEE 395 ARBEZRRBENEXREE
mE o MAERAEMABRBESLEM - 1
—ANARNFRBMAREE 2/ - BE—FKIH
BREXTHF AREZHEAMSHETE
FHMBEREETELR -

REHERE (FES — PREE)
RIE - 4858 c AEEZBXEEAEE - F
TERBENREABRACTITIREE LS -
R=AANFALAMAREER - FREGR
—RAVWEBLECKEEEIEAAE - AFES
MEXBRNEENERLR -

SREFRE (MR LZEEEF)

Sk 625 ARBEZBENAEEE-H
EEEXNBERBARBEEMNEE LS -
R-ZEZLFTAMARERR - FELEDHR
EEEBIF H_TTE=FFZ_TTHH
BREAEENERER  EPHEEEITH
FEERR BELYENERLR -

BB S (BRI BT

BRSEA 4958 AEEZBRF MG E HER
KR - BERERBIZELEM - ANEKX
BEMPELBE0FTHERR R-2FFNW
FRAMAXREER  BELEBRES KA
ZEEAREBNFREEDS  #HE - RB
MITHEREE B TRXEERNEREE
BAMBBRRERRA - KL= -



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSHREEAEREE

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. XIAO Li Yuan (Aroma Chemicals Operations Manager)

Mr. Xiao, aged 46, Director of Aroma Chemicals Operations. Before
joining the Group in February 2001, he was the deputy manager in a
large chemical enterprise. Mr. Xiao has more than 27 years experience of
production management.

Ms. CHEN Ying Hong (Human Resources Manager)

Ms. Chen, aged 34, Human Resources Manager. She graduated from
Normal University, and holds the certificate of manpower resource
management (second class), and certificate of national enterprise training
(second class). Before joining the Group in July 2006, she worked in a
Japanese corporation and occupied the management position, She has
very rich manpower management experience.

Mr. TU Hong Bin (Aroma Chemicals R&D Manager)

Mr. Tu, aged 42, Aroma Chemicals R&D Manager, who received a
Ph.D degree in 1995 from Beijing Institute of Technology. After the
postdoctoral research experience with Professor Alan.R.Katritzky at
University of Florida of USA (2001-2004), he joined Ecogreen in May
2005. He has more than 14 years experience in organic synthesis
and methodology including 3 years preparation and production of
Heterocyclic compounds.

Mr. LAM Kwok Kin (Financial Controller and Company Secretary)

Mr. Lam, aged 36, is the financial controller and company secretary of the
Company. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in accountancy and is a fellow
member of both the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining
the Group in October 2003, he worked with an international accounting
firm for seven years and was the financial controller and company
secretary of a company listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam has
extensive experience in auditing, accounting, budgeting and company
secretarial works.
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The directors (“the Directors”) of EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Limited
(the Company”) are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company and of its subsidiaries
(collectively “the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2009.

Principal activities and geographical analysis of
operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group are the research and development, production
and sale of fine chemicals products from natural resources for use in
aroma chemicals and pharmaceutical products, and the trading of fine
chemicals products and natural materials.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2009 are
set out in Note 9 to the financial statements.

Results and dividends
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 49.

An interim dividend of HKO0.8 cents per share, amounting to a total of
about HK$3,722,000 (equivalent of approximately RMB3,279,000),
was paid to shareholders of the Company (“the Shareholders”) on 18
December 2009.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK3 cents
per share to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members on 28 June 2010. Together with the interim dividend, this will
bring the total dividend distribution for the year to HK3.8 cents (2008:
HK4.1 cents) per share, resulting in an aggregate dividend of about
HK$17.7 million (equivalent of approximately RMB15.6 million) for the
year ended 31 December 2009.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 51. Details
of movements in other reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.
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Property, plant and equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 7 to the financial statements.

Share capital
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

Distributable reserves
Distributable reserves including retained earnings of the Company at 31
December 2009 amounted to RMB314,213,000 (2008: RMB322,447,000).

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed
securities

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the Company had not
redeemed and neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

Pre-emptive rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Financial summary
A summary of the results and of the financial positions of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 122.
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Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Yirong (Chairman & President)
Mr. Gong Xionghui

Ms. Lu Jiahua

Mr. Lin Like

Mr. Han Huan Guang

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Feng Tao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen

Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John

Dr. Zheng Lansun

In accordance with article 108(A) of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Yang Yirong, Mr. Gong Xionghui and Ms. Lu Jiahua, will retire from
office by rotation and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
were appointed for an initial term of not more than one year and will be
renewable automatically for successive term of one year until terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.
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Directors’ interests in contracts
Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 35 to the
financial statements.

Save for the above, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at year-end or at any time during the year.

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 27 to 31.

Directors’ Emoluments

Details of Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section 161 of
the Companies Ordinance and Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set
out in Note 25(b) to the financial statements.

Arrangements to purchase shares or debentures

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives
of the Company or their spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate with the exception of the
Company’s share option scheme, details of which are set out in the
following section under the heading “Share options”.
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and/or short
positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures
At 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of the Directors,
chief executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)),
which were recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO; or which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the

EERTHRARRRSD - HERORE
HERR KR

RIZZNFT-_A=+—HB EF 1THE
BRRE CBMBALTRARRREABERE(E
ERESMEGRD([EHRPERG ) FXV
BB - HERMHESFTHES - LELRRA
NAIREES KPR IGRAIFE3521GFE 2 &5
it RRIRRE F R E GRPIFEXVE 7 X8 H
EMERNRF MR (BREREES MGG
PIBRAGR  REREIFLRERER 2 fEam K
RR)VFRE LR EMAREFTETESRR
ZEORETRE MG AR E LRz #Em M

KRBT

(@) REQXAFREEIOBLTEBR 2

PN

Company )
Number of shares held
R
% of the
issued
share capital
of the
Company
Personal Family Corporate Other EARATE
Name of Director interests interests interests interests Total 2RITR
EEng AR RiGER DNERER HAtRE % #gt FADL
Mr. Yang Yirong - - 195,389,158 - 195,389,158 42.00%
BRELE (Note a)
(BisF a)
Mr. Gong Xionghui - - 11,368,421 - 11,368,421 2.44%
IR (Note b)
(Hzt b)
Ms. Lu Jiahua - - 8,526,316 - 8,526,316 1.83%
EXRELL (Note c)
(BisF c)
Notes: BiRE -
(@) These shares were beneficially owned by Marietta Limited, a private (@) ZERDAGRBEEER2EREG 2L
company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Yang Yirong. A A F]Marietta Limited B # A ©
(b) These shares were beneficially owned by Dragon Kingdom Investment (b) ZERMUEHBAEER2ERABZ

Limited, a private company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Gong Xionghui.

() These shares were beneficially owned by Sunwill Investments Limited, a
private company beneficially wholly-owned by Ms. Lu Jiahua.
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests or short
positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures
(continued)

(b)

Interest in share options of the Company

Share options, being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives,
to subscribe for the ordinary shares of the Company were granted
to Directors, chief executives, employees and certain participants
pursuant to the approved Company’s share option scheme.
Information in relation to these share options during the year
ended 31 December 2009 are set out in the following section
under the heading “Share options”.

(b)

RAEATBRE 2 ER

B TREH  RERRECENE
ZARRBRAETEZET2EAL
r%gwmmam IR ARPTE T A
NRBEARRREBR 2 BIE - BRAE
Z\_EghiJr:ﬂEJr*EUtiEW
ZEBBREZFE - MR T X B
— & e

(c) Interest in registered share capital of a Company’s (c) RAEQAT—ZKBARTMRA 2 ERE
subsidiary
Other than the interest disclosed above, a Director also hold MR ENIFBE 2SI EFBIAEES
nominee shares in certain subsidiaries held in trust for the Group AAERNEBREFAEETHERARI ZREZ A
solely for the purpose of ensuring that the relevant subsidiary has n o BEAEREENBAREAREA
more than one member. —HRRE -
Other than as disclosed above, neither the Directors nor any chief MR ENEREN  RZZBEENF+ A
executives, nor any of their associates, had any interests or short =1+—08 BEEFHEMITHRAEH
positions in the shares, underlying shares, or debentures of the WETMBE AL - AR s E
Company or its associated corporation as at 31 December 20009. EEZKRD - MERDESEST  BE

FfEES AR ©
Share options B

The following is a summary of the Company’s share option scheme
(“the Scheme”), which was approved and adopted pursuant to a written
resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed on 16 February
2004, disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules:

MTRRIELEMRAFBEARFARRR_FFT
ME—ATNARBEMRBRILERKRZ
AABEIAERT &I ([FHE) 2B -

1. Purpose of the Scheme 1. sFElZBH
The Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected ez EMRFEAERETMIETRES
participants as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the REBKE  EARSHAEEMER
Group. Bt 2 12N sk B 5 o

2. Participants of the Scheme 2, HEE3E

All directors, employees, suppliers of goods or services,
customers, persons or entities that provide research, development
or other technological support to the Group, shareholders and
advisers or consultants of the Group are eligible to participate in
the Scheme.

AEEMEES - EE - EmakBH
fEm - BERPEAEAREREHNE - F%
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Share options (continued)

3.

38

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

The total number of shares of the Company (“the Shares”) which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue on 21 July 2004, the date of approval of the
refreshment of the General Scheme Limit (as defined below) by
the shareholders of the Company (“the Shareholders”).

The Company may renew the 10% limit with Shareholders’
approval provided that each such renewal may not exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of the Shareholder’s approval
(“the General Scheme Limit”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme adopted by the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

As at 23 April 2010, being the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of the annual report, options to subscribe for a total
of 30,770,000 Shares were still outstanding under the Scheme
which represents approximately 6.7% of the Shares in issue.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share
option scheme adopted by the Company in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option

An option must be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by the Directors to each grantee, which period may commence
from the date of the offer for the grant of option is made, but
shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the date on
which the offer for the grant of the option is made, subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof.
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Share options (continued)

6.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Scheme for the holding of an option
before it can be exercised.

The period within which payments or calls must or may be
made or loans for such purposes must be repaid and the
amount payable on application or acceptance of the option
An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of the offer for the grant of the option and the amount
payable on acceptance of the grant of an option is HK$1.

The basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price is determined by the Directors and being not
less than the highest of:

a. the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for trade in
one or more board lots of the Company’s shares on the
date of the offer for the grant;

b. the average closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of the offer for the grant; and

C. the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme will end on 15 February 2014, after which no option
can be granted under the Scheme. However, options that remain
outstanding as at 15 February 2014 can be exercised until their
respective expiry dates.
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Share options (continued)
The following table discloses details of share options outstanding as at

BB

TRFVAR=ZFFTNF T+ A=+ BAREG

31 December 2009 under the Scheme and the movements during the S| ARITE ZBEREFBELENFRN 2 ES) o
year.
Balance Balance
asat as at
1 January 31 December
2009 Granted Exercised Cancelled 2009
Granted  Exercise Exercisable H-ZZNE during during duing  RZEEAE
date  price petiod -R-B the year the year theyear +ZA=t-H
Type of Grantee ARAEH REA®  AFE TS e ERRE R ERH e
HKS (000) ('000) (000) (000) (000)
Category 1 - Directors ~ EFl1-£%
Mr. Yang Yirong oy iy 25.5.2006 139 255.2006- 2452011 400 - - - 400
Mr. Gong Xionghui SEEE 8.6.2004 1.37 8.6.2004 - 7.6.2014 3,100 - - - 3,100
Ms. Lu Jiahua EFERT 8.6.2004 1.37 8.6.2004 - 7.6.2014 2,600 - - - 2,600
Mr. Lin Like MAREE 25.5.2006 1.39 255.2006 - 24.5.2011 2,400 - - - 2,400
Mr. Han Huan Guang BEEE 25.5.2006 1.39 255.2006 - 24.5.2011 2,400 - - - 2,400
Mr. Fung Tao BELE 25.5.2006 1.39 255.2006 - 24.5.2011 2,400 - - - 2,400
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen EEREE 8.6.2004 1.37 8.6.2004-7.6.2014 200 - - - 200
25.5.2006 1.39 26.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 400 - - - 400
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, Jonn  EZE %5 8.6.2004 1.37 8.6.2004 - 7.6.2014 200 - - - 200
25.5.2006 1.39 25.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 400 - - - 400
Dr. Zheng Lansun BREET 8.6.2004 137 8.6.2004-7.6.2014 400 - - - 400
25.5.2006 1.39 26.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 400 - - - 400
Sub-total 1t 15,300 - - - 15,300
Category 2 - Employees Rl2- 15 8,6.2004 137 8,6.2004-7.6.2014 8.270 - - - 8,270
under EfaY
continuous  E8 25.5.2006 1.39 25.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 4240 - - (240) 4,000
employment
contract
Sub-total 1t 12,510 - - (240) 12,270
Category 3 - Other Bhls-Hft 25.5.2006 1.39 26.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 3,200 - - - 3,200
participants SEAL
Sub-total 1t 3,200 - - - 3,200
Total &t 31,010 - - (240) 30,770
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Interest and/or short positions of shareholders
discloseable under SFO

As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of the
persons, other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company,
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company, which were notified
to the Company pursuant to Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the
Company

BREESRAERIATRE 2 RRE
#mR,/ KR
A\ZEBAF+-A=+—H REFKEARQ
BITEABEAIN 2 A TR AR R AR K 48 B %
e - EARERES R ERAIEXVEE2K3
AWMEMEARA  AARFRBESLHPE
[ BIZE336IIREFTE 2 B MPTACsk < s &
KRBT

REQBEREEI10CGETEBER ZHR

Number of shares held

FERY
Interest of % of the
corporation issued
controlled by share capital
the substantial of the
shareholder Company
Beneficial Investment KBRE Other E NS
Name owner Manager  FriZHifLE interests Total BRI
2% BREEA RELE HER HiiEs Fohy BABS L
Marietta Limited 195,389,158 - - - 195,389,158 42.00%
(Note a)
(fizt a)
Keywise Capital - 71,342,000 - - 71,342,000 15.33%
Management (HK) Limited
Keywise Greater China 53,022,000 - - - 53,022,000 11.40%
Opportunities Master Fund
FMR LLC - 32,742,000 - - 32,742,000 7.04%
Platinum Investment Management
Limited - 28,234,000 - - 28,234,000 6.07%
UBS AG - - - 28,082,000 28,082,000 6.04%
(Note b)
(frsz b)
Notes: Bt 5
(@) These shares were registered in the name of and beneficially owned by Marietta (@) 2% B8 15 LAMarietta Limited 2 £ & 55 » WHZA

Limited, the entire issued share capital of which was directly and beneficially owned
by Mr. Yang Yirong.

(b) Trustee.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
by any persons, other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company, who had interest or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2009.

A B HEA  MMarietta Limited 2 28 2 317 I A< 8]
ISR EEEESER °

Cs
i
=13

A

B EXRBEESI  ARRAEENE R _F
gﬂ¢+:ﬂ =t—B BREZFREAQFTH

BEAIN - BEFRALRARE 2 A8
H%ﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬁﬁé SRR
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Management contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered
into or existed during the year.

Major customers and suppliers
The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and the five
largest customers were 21% and 49% respectively. The aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and the five largest
suppliers were 9% and 35% respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company, which to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in the share
capital of the Group’s five largest customers and five largest suppliers
noted above.

Continuing connected transactions and directors’

interests in contracts

Chuxiong Zhongyi Forestry Trading Co. Ltd. (“Chuxiong Zhongyi”) is
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which is principally
engaged in the sale of forestry products. 70% of the equity interest
in Chuxiong Zhongyi is beneficially owned by the Company while
the remaining 30% equity interest is beneficially owned by Chuxiong
Hongbang Forestry Co. Ltd. (“Chuxiong Hongbang”), a private company
incorporated in the Peoples’ Republic of China with limited liability and
owned by third parties independent of the Company and connected
persons of the Company.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, Chuxiong Hongbang and its associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) are connected persons of the Company.
Therefore, any transaction between the Group and Chuxiong Hongbang
and its associates will constitute a connected transaction of the Company
for the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and may be subject
to the reporting, announcement and/or independent shareholders’
approval requirements contained in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The following table is a summary of the transaction amounts of the
continuing connected transactions of the Group with Chuxiong
Hongbang for the years ended 31 December 2007, 2008 and 2009.

EEEH
FR - AARLWETSI KT AERS RAEE
RREMERBD EH 2 ERRITHAEL -

FEEEFRHER
AEBZBERBEFPFRAARFEMESEED
B AE21%N49% - KEE 7 AEERFNAKR
HrER FE (L EREE 4258 D B B9% K 35% °

B REZBMEALRBESMAHREAR
AlE BITARAL% A £ 2 AR BMEMIBCR - B
BB AR EE R AT P R RA R R AT
Ef s -

BERNERSRESY SNES

BHEREMERSZERAB(TREFR])SA
NEZFEEMBAR - EXEXHRIHEMN
KEM - BEPIEN70%RAER B A QA
BEERERESR - MHEBR30% A 5 A 1
SAHMCERARBEA ([ERESAF]) - BrEsL
AR —ERPEARXMBEKLZAABRA
A WAE=EHE  BARARARAEZEH
BT ERRE o

RIE EWARR > BrEABREBEA(R LR
AR VPR B AR RBMEEA - Fit - AEE
HEREELARMEBBAZHNR S HER LT
MBI 4AZ ISR A RINRIER 5 - WAEST
EHRBEMAZHRBBRER - AR LB
STRRHLEHIIRE ©

TRABE-_ZTL —TT/N\R-ZZETNF
TZA=+T—BULEFEBRAEEEBHELF
REMEXHNXFHEME -

Transaction amounts

XENE

(Note)

(BtsE)

Connected Party Category 2009 2008 2007
BEAL il —EBAF —ETNF —ETF
RMB$’000 RMB$’000 RMB$’000

AR¥T T ARETT AREFT

Chuxiong Hongbang Purchase of raw materials 43,350 61,170 25,067

BE R

and its associates
HrEsh B R HEE A
Note: Chuxiong Zhongyi was incorporated in 2007.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) of the
Company.

The Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) confirmed
that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions were entered into
(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (b) either
on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available from independent third parties; and (c) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Save as disclosed above:

(i) no contracts of significance subsisted to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly at
the end of the years ended 31 December 2007, 2008 and 2009
or at any time during the years; and

(i) there were no transactions which need to be disclosed as
connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with most of
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“the CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2009, save for the deviations from code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code. Information on the deviations and further information on the
Company’s corporate governance practices is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” as set out on pages 18 to 26.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to and within the
knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public
float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the date of
the annual report.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Directors
YANG YIRONG
Chairman & President

Hong Kong, 8 April 2010

B ERER S EHARRES(BEEIIF
HITES)EM -

EX(BREIFATES)ER - LRRER
BR5EQEAEEN —RIBEERKBRET
FISLHY 5 (0)AIE B B R R SUA TN E R AN K [E]
WL =07 AR IRFRET AL+ RO RIBE
HEBHEARATMABELNFERRFRR
B A IRFKET L

B EXFTEESD

() REBEE-_ZZ+ -  _ZETN\R_ZTTA
FEAREIN =FAEAER @ "2
AR E T BRA RN B ARAE
EHEeEAER(TwEEZXEE) BD
REBNEREL &

i) BEIZARBEETRAUNRERER
RS

TEER

BERE BRETRECEETAERTIEX
FA2EN  ARBARBE_ZTZTNFE+=
B=+—HULFEE—HE RN 145
BABHICEERERTAU(LEERERST
Al - EEZSERENARNTDEES AEET
Bz — S ERHNFEI18E20E[ DEERT
=

REARERE
REERUDHHABRHZ BN R KSR
M ARAHR - RERAAADADETR
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Auditor’s Report
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PRICEWATERHOUSE(COPERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ecogreen
Fine Chemicals Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 46 to 121, which comprise the
consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2009,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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Auditor’s Report
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 8 April 2010

BV ERTRFAEREEVBRRAES
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As at 31st December 2009 R=ZEFNF+=-A=+—H

2009 2008
—EENF ZEENF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥T AREETIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Land use rights + s A 6 9,851 8,631
Property, plant and equipment VI - eSS NG E 7 384,191 375,818
Intangible assets mIEE 8 57,173 57,441
Investment in an associate BN AR E 10 1,750 1,750
Available-for-sale financial assets AR ESREE 11 400 400
453,365 444,040
Current assets REEE
Inventories 78 12 72,176 76,138
Trade receivables FEWRZ 5 R 5K 13 203,227 192,006
Prepayments and other receivables TERTRIE K&
H th fE W IR 14 45,488 81,493
Pledged bank deposits B 2 R TFER 15 27,122 37,364
Cash and cash equivalents RERIFSEEY 15 514,744 386,619
862,757 773,620
Total assets WEE 1,316,122 1,217,660
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable AATERFEA
to the Company’s equity holders FEAE A R
Share capital N 16 49,232 49,232
Share premium B R E 16 181,841 181,841
Other reserves HAbE & 17 58,852 56,057
Retained earnings REB AT
— Proposed final dividend — R R EAAR B 31 12,274 11,888
— Others —Efh 538,284 446,663
840,483 745,681
Minority interest in equity DR RER 3,502 3,291
Total equity R 843,985 748,972

I TEEABR AR



Consolidated Balance Sheet
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As at 31st December 2009 R=ZEENF+=-A=+—H

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZEENEFE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥ T ARETIT
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Borrowings Ba 18 100,119 224,456
Derivative financial instruments PTEemIT A 21 917 5,014
Deferred tax liabilities REFSTHAE 22 10,500 13,500
111,536 242,970
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables and bills payable AR SRR R RN EE 19 72,824 69,764
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTS i B & 3,886 2,070
Borrowings BE 18 252,666 121,019
Derivative financial instruments PTEERIT A 21 1,833 =
Accruals and other payables EEtER K
o th & 3R 20 28,396 31,860
Amount due to a director BT —ZEFIE 35 996 1,005
360,601 225,718
Total liabilities BEE 472,137 468,688
Total equity and liabilities HEZRRAE 1,316,122 1,217,660
Net current assets RBEERE 502,156 547,902
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREBER 955,521 991,942
YANG YIRONG LU JIAHUA
BRE EXRE
Chairman Executive director
*E HITEE

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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As at 31st December 2009 R—ZEFThF+-A=+—H

Non-current assets
Investments in and amounts
due from subsidiaries

Current assets
Prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to
the Company’s equity holders
Share capital
Share premium
Other reserves
Retained earnings
— Proposed final dividend
— Others

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Accruals and other payables

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities
YANG YIRONG

HRE

Chairman
EF

FRBEE
RIERAZIRE R
JRE W Bt J8 1 B 3R IR

RBEE
FAN IR
RehERRELEAR

REE

Rz
RRFERFEAREMS
EX K f#E
LN
B Ag (8
HAib e
R & A
—BUR R HRLE
—Eft

MR

8f&
FnBAE

fHE

PTESRITA

REBAE
fEE

TEEMTA
FERT 8 A M AL A S 5R0R

BEE
mERRAE
REEE
BEERARBRE
LU JIAHUA
HERE

Executive director

HITEF

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2009
—EZAF
Note RMB’000
B =E ARET T
9 515,147
14 56
15 21,626
21,682
536,829
16 49,232
16 181,841
17 96,408
31 12,274
23,690
363,445
18 56,469
21 917
57,386
18 112,331
21 1,833
20 1,834
115,998
173,384
536,829
(94,316)
420,831

F54F 121 & [t
/J_j\ o

2008
ZET)N\F

RMB’000
ARETT

601,243
82
1,778

1,860

603,103

49,232
181,841
93,959

11,888
34,759

371,679

169,907
5,014

174,921

53,903
2,608
56,503
231,424
603,103
(54,643)

546,600



Consolidated Income Statement

e laE Rk

—By function of expenses — & & FATIAED 48
For the year ended 31st December 2009 HZ=—ZTNF+-A=+—HILFE

2009 2008
—EBNF ZETNF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B =E AR®T T ARETT
(Note 2.1)
Revenue Wz 5 728,494 739,973
Cost of goods sold BEEEMKAR 24 (541,383) (529,458)
Gross profit EF 187,111 210,515
Other gains/(losses) — net Hblzs/(&18) —F58 23 258 (253)
Selling and marketing costs SHE RIS HEN A 24 (20,023) (28,437)
Administrative expenses 1TBER 24 (30,332) (41,080)
Operating profit Rl 137,014 140,745
Finance income BME WA 26 2,182 3,175
Finance costs A A 26 (18,218) (9,951)
Finance costs — net BB — F 58 26 (16,036) (6,776)
Profit before income tax B FT1S B4 Al v K 120,978 133,969
Income tax expense PSR > 27 (13,296) (19,513)
Profit for the year F 1A% A 107,682 114,456
Attributable to: FEfh -
Equity holders of the Company RArlE=FAA 107,471 114,237
Minority interest DT R = 211 219
107,682 114,456
Earnings per share for profit FARRRERITE A
attributable to the equity holders FEMR RN 2 B AR
of the Company during the year (BRUARKESR)
(expressed in RMB per share)
- Basic —HR 30 23.1 Centsfll 24.4 Centsflli
- Diluted —#58 30 22.9 Centsfll 23.9 Centsfll
The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated ~ %54F 121 B[ 7t Bk SR 6 B 75 = B AR &
financial statements.  ©
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BitaE ARET T ARETT
Dividends % 2 31 15,553 16,818
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31st December 2009 HZ=—ZTNF+-_A=+—HIFE

2009 2008
—EEhE ZZET)N\F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B =E ARET T ARETT
Profit for the year F R Al 107,682 114,456
Other comprehensive income: e
Currency translation differences BN N =5 9) 47
Cash flow hedge REMEE
— Fair value change for the year —FRRTERE 130 (4,417)
- Transfer to finance costs — B A BE A 2,134 (597)
2,255 (4,967)
Total comprehensive income FRAZHEKEEEE
for the year 109,937 109,489
Attributable to: FEAG -
Equity holders of the Company RAElE=FAA 109,726 109,270
Minority interests DB R A 211 219
Total comprehensive income FRE2EKNRLEHE
for the year 109,937 109,489

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolide}ted Statement of Changes in Equity
"J\T§?1%Ef§§§E§EEb5§%

For the year ended 31st December 2009 HE =TT NF+-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company
KAREREE AR
Minority
Share Share Other Retained interest Total
capital premium reserves earnings Total 2HRR equity
kA BRAEE HitRE RERF @t 4 BRER
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSI ARETR ARETR AR®TR ARETR ARETR AR%®TR
Balance at 1 January 2009 R-ZEAF-F—H
ko373 49,232 181,841 56,057 458,551 745,681 3,291 748,972
Total comprehensive income for 2000 —EZNF2EKGER - - 2255 107,471 109,726 211 109,937
Employees share option scheme: EERERETE :
— Value of share options granted -RinERiE EE - - 243 - 243 - 243
— Cancellation of share options — B RE - - (58) 58 = - =
Dividend relating to 2008 BHE-_TT\F2KRE - = - (11,888)  (11,888) - (11,888)
Dividend relating to 2009 BHE-TTNEZRE - - - (3279)  (3,279) - (3,279)
Transfer from retained earmings RERFER(HF17)
(Notes 17) - - 355 (355) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2009 R-ZEAF+ZA=1—-H
iR 49,232 181,841 58,852 550,558 840,483 3,502 843,985
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

mEEREERg

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company
KAREREE AR
Minority
Share Share Other Retained interest Total
capital premium reserves earnings Total 2HKRR equity

Bx  BraE HitREE REEA @5t i AR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR AR®TR

Balance at 1 January 2008 RZEENE-A—H

2t 49653 188,888 51,763 371,931 662,235 1572 663,807
Total comprehensive income for 2008  —EZN\F2EKGER - - (4967) 114,237 109,270 219 109,489
Employees share option scheme: EERERETS :

— Value of share options granted ~RinERkiE EE = - 913 - 913 = 913

— Cancellation of share options — e - = (171) 171 = = =
Change in minority interest in equity: DY RER 2 2E)

— Capital injection —EAER - - - - - 1,500 1,500
Repurchase of shares Bk (421)  (7,047) 421 - (7,047) - (7,047)
Dividend relating to 2007 BH-ZTLEIRE - - - (14,760)  (14,760) - (14,760)
Dividend relating to 2008 BE-ZTNEZRE - - - (4930)  (4,930) - (4,930)
Transfer from retained earnings (Note 17) FREZME R (FizE17) - = 8,098 (8,098) - = =
Balance at 31 December 2008 RZBENE+-A=1-H

Z&th 49232 181,841 56,057 458,551 745,681 3291 748972

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated ~ $£54F 121 B it A% S A BB m = E 2
financial statements. )
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For the year ended 31st December 2009 HZ=-ZETNF+-_A=+—HILFE

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations
Interest received

Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and
equipment
Increase in intangible assets
Proceeds from sales of property,
plant and equipment
Addition of land use right
Capital injection from a minority interest
Payment for investment in an associate

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Decrease in amount due to a director

Dividends paid to the Company’s
equity holders

Repurchase of shares

Early unwinding of derivative financial
instruments

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Limited (“EcoGreen” or “the Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged in the
production and trading of fine chemicals from natural resources for use in
aroma chemicals and pharmaceutical products.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 March 2003
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Century
Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681 GT, George Town,
Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West Indies.

The Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Chinese
Renminbi (RMB), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 8
April 2010.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”), which include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong, requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Main
Board Listing Rules”).They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried at fair
value.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note
4.

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2009

The Group has adopted all new/revised HKFRSs which
were mandatory for the financial year beginning on or after
1 January 2009 and were pertinent to its operations. The applicable
HKFRSs are set out below:

Presentation of financial statements

Borrowing costs

Cost of an Investment in Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

Amendments to HKFRS 1
and HKAS 27

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
HKFRS 8

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Share-based payment

Financial instruments: disclosures
Operating segments
Improvements to HKFRSs

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

HKAS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of financial statements’

The revised standard requires items of income and expenses (that is
‘non-owner changes in equity’) to be presented separately from owner
changes in equity but to be shown in a statement of comprehensive
income. As a result the Group presents in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity all owner changes in equity, whereas all non-
owner changes in equity are presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Comparative information has been re-presented
so that it also is in conformity with the revised standard. Since the
change in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects, there is
no impact on earnings per share.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in
2009 (continued)
HKAS 23 (Revised), ‘Borrowing costs’
The amendment requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use
or sale) as part of the cost of that asset. The option of immediately
expensing those borrowing costs has been removed. It is not expected
to have any material impact on the Group’s financial statements as the
relevant borrowing cost have already been capitalized with qualifying
assets by the Group in prior years’ financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27, ‘Cost of an Investment in
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate’

The amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27 require all dividends be
presented as income in the separate financial statements of the investor
(prior to the amendments, the investor recognises income from the
investment only to the extent that the investor receives distributions from
retained earnings of the investee arising after the date of acquisition,
and distributions received in excess of such profits are regarded as
recovery of investment and are recognised as a reduction of the cost
of the investment). The amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27 require
prospective application. The adoption of the amendments to HKFRS 1
and HKAS 27 did not have any financial impact to the Company as the
Group did not receive distributions from subsidiaries that are in excess of
their profits arising after the date of acquisition.

HKFRS 2 (Amendment), ‘Share-based payment’

The amended standard deals with vesting conditions and cancellations.
It clarifies that vesting conditions are service conditions and performance
conditions only. Other features of a share-based payment are not vesting
conditions. As such these features would need to be included in the
grant date fair value for transactions with employees and others providing
similar services, that is, these features would not impact the number of
awards expected to vest or valuation thereof subsequent to grant date.
All cancellations, whether by the entity or by other parties, should receive
the same accounting treatment. The adoption of HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
did not have any financial impact to the Group in 2009 or prior years
as the Group did not have share-based payment arrangements which
contain non-vesting features and no share-based payment arrangements
have been cancelled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in
2009 (continued)
HKFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments — Disclosures’ (amendment)
The amendment requires enhanced disclosures about fair value
measurement and liquidity risk. In particular, the amendment
requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a fair value
measurement hierarchy. As the change in accounting policy only results
in additional disclosures, there is no impact on earnings per share.

HKFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’

HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14, ‘Segment reporting’. It requires a
‘management approach’ under which segment information is presented
on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. Operating
segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating
decision-maker have been identified as the executive directors (“Executive
Directors”) that make strategic decisions. Following the adoption of
HKFRS 8, the presentation of the segment results and segment assets
has changed (see Note 5 for details).

Improvements to HKFRSs

In October 2008, the HKICPA published several improvements to
HKFRSs which were based on the annual improvements project of IASB.
In 2009, the Group adopted all such amendments which were pertinent
to its operations. The adoption of the amendments had no material
effect on how the results and financial position for the current or prior
accounting years have been prepared and presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR E

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing

standards have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or later periods, but

the Group has not early adopted:

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 (Amendments)
HKAS 39 (Amendments)
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 9
HK(FRIC) - INT 17

HK(IFRIC) - INT 19

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 for the amendments to

HKFRS 5.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or 1 January 2010, as

appropriate.

® N o o &> ©

Improvements to HKFRSs!
Improvements to HKFRSs 20092

Related Party Disclosures®

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements*

Classification of Rights Issues®

Eligible Hedged Items*

Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters®

Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions®

Business Combinations®

Financial Instruments’

Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners*

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group (continued)
The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s accounting
for business combination for which the acquisition date is on or after 1
January 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for
changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary.

The Group has commenced considering the potential impact of the other
new and revised standards, amendments or interpretations but is not yet
in a position to determine whether they would have a significant impact on
its results and financial position are prepared and presented.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the amortisation of and
impairment of product development costs of RMB10,529,000 have
been included in administrative expenses. Such amount has been
reclassified to cost of sales to conform to current year presentation. This
reclassification has no impact on the Group's operating profit and profit
for the year ended 31 December 2008.

2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and all its subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

@) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which
the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the
voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing
whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that
control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)
@) Subsidiaries (continued)
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of
the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less provision for impairment losses (Note 2.7). The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

(b) Transactions with minority interest in connection with equity
interests in subsidiaries

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interest
as transactions with parties external to the Group. Disposals to minority
interest result in gains and losses for the Group that are recorded in the
consolidated income statement. Purchases from minority interest results
in goodwill, being the difference between any consideration paid and
the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the
subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(c) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence

but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20%

and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted

for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at

cost.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in the consolidated income statement, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the Executive Directors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

@) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities

are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment

in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated

financial statements are presented in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), which is

the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement within
‘finance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) — net.’

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign
currency classified as available-for-sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security,
and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation
differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in
profit or loss, and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in
equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets such as equities classified as available-
for-sale are included in the available for sale reserve in equity.
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2.4  Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which
has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of
the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments,
are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is partly
disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity
are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

@) Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress, representing buildings on which construction
work has not been completed and machinery pending installation, is
stated at historical cost, which includes construction expenditures
incurred, cost of machinery, and other direct costs capitalised during the
construction and installation period, less accumulated impairment losses,
if any. No depreciation is provided in respect of construction-in-progress
until the construction and installation work is completed. On completion,
the construction-in-progress is transferred to appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the

items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on

qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property,

plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are expensed in the income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate cost less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

30 to 40 years
5to 15 years
5to 10 years
5 to 10 years

Buildings

Plant and machinery
Leasehold improvements
Office furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles 5to 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other gains/(losses) —
net’ in the income statement.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.6 Intangible assets

@) Research and development

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs

incurred on development projects (relating to the design and testing of

new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when the

following criteria are fulfilled:

() it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale;

(i) management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

(i) there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(iv) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits;

(v) adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible asset are available;
and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and
amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-
line basis over a period of five years.

Development assets are tested for impairment annually, in accordance
with HKAS 36.

(b) Patents and technical know-how

Expenditure on acquired patents and technical know-how is capitalised
and amortised using the straight-line method over its estimated useful
life of 5 to 10 years, from the date when the patents and technical know-
how is available for use.
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2.7 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates and
non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet available for use
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries or associates is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary or associate
in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

2.8 Financial assets

2.8.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivable and available-for-sale.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired. Management determine the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets
held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.
Assets in this category are classified as current assets.
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2.8 Financial assets (continued)

2.8.1 Classification (continued)

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They
are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12
months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current
assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise’ trade and other
receivables’ in the balance sheet (Note 2.11).

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.
They are included in non-current assets unless the investment mature or
management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of
the balance sheet date.

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss
are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed
in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Available for-sale financial assets are subsequently
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the
income statement within ‘other losses — net’, in the period in which they
arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss is recognised in the income statement as part of other income when
the Group’s right to receive payments is established.
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2.8 Financial assets (continued)

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement (continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign
currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the
security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. The
translation differences on monetary securities are recognised in profit
or loss, and the translation on non-monetary securities carrying amount
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Changes in the fair
value of monetary securities classified as available-for-sale and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the
accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are included in
the income statement as 'gains and losses from investment securities’.
Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the income statement. Dividends on
available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income
statement when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If
the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities),
the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These
include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other
instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis, and option pricing models, making maximum use of market
inputs and relying as little as possible on entity specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below
its cost is considered an indicator that the security is impaired. If any
such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative
loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in the income statement — is removed from equity
and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised
in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through
the income statement. Impairment testing of trade receivables is
described in Note 2.11.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.9 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair
value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designed as a hedging instrument, and if
so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain
derivatives as hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised
liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in
fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging
purposes are disclosed in Note 21. Movements on the hedging reserve
in shareholders’ equity are shown in Note 17. The full fair value of a
hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the
remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a
current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset
or liability.

@) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
is recognised immediately in the income statement within ‘other gains/
(losses) — net’.
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2.9 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
(continued)
@) Cash flow hedge (continued)
Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement
in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss (for example,
when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss
relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable
rate borrowings is recognised in the income statement within ‘finance
costs’. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
in the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) — net’. However,
when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of
a non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets), the gains
and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred
amounts are ultimately recognised in cost of goods sold in the case of
inventory, or in depreciation in the case of fixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or
loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income
statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur,
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately
transferred to the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) — net’.

2.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour,
other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses.

2.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection
of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment.
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2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts
are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

2.13 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity share
capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are
cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued,
any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

2.14 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the balance sheet date.
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2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax
is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in the comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the
countries where the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.17 Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance
sheet date. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of the leave.

(i) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of options that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date,
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The cash subscribed for the shares issued when the options are
exercised is credited to share capital (hnominal value) and share premium,
net of any directly attributable transaction costs

The grant by the company of options over its equity instruments to the
employees of subsidiary undertakings in the group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured
by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a
corresponding credit to equity.

(iii) Pension obligations

Group companies operate various defined contribution plans. The plans
are generally funded through payments to trustee-administered funds. A
defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due and are not reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset
to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or

receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s

activities. Revenue is shown, net of value-added tax, returns, rebates

and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is

recognised as follow:

@) Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a group entity has delivered
products to the customer, the customer has accepted the products and
collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted
at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired
loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

2.19 Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion the risks and rewards of ownership
are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.

Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for the land use rights are capitalised
on the balance sheet and are expensed in the income statement on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease or where there is
impairment, the impairment is expensed in the income statement.

2.20 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the Group’s and Company’s financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.
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3. Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other receivables. The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings,
trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. These risks are limited by the Group’s
financial management policies and practices described below.

(@) Credit risk

The Group has policies in place to ensure that liquid funds are placed
with renowned financial institutions registered in Mainland China and
Hong Kong. Sales of products are made to customers with appropriate
credit history. The Group performs credit evaluations on its customers.

Trade receivables are due within three months from the date of billing. As
at 31 December 2009, 79% of the total trade receivables was due within
three months (2008: 91%).

As at 31 December 2009, the five largest customers accounted for 47%
of the trade receivables carrying amount (2008: 34%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk represents the carrying amounts of
trade receivables in the balance sheet.

Quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 13.
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities at the
balance sheet date of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities,

3. HXKREBEE®)

31 HMERBREZEE)

(b)  EEBELEE
REBOBRETHERRBEST R - UK
EAFAERZENRTE  UHEREZTHAD
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WOERES  WRREBIRERENRSE

TR TAKENSRABEREEANEGH
AURRERE(BRZREONEH (BT

which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including

BRR)EE

B ERITM R E BB M

interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based ZAEEAEEENZN ST B A ENTISKE
on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the ) ZIHJIBE N :
Group and the Company can be required to pay:
Total
contractual
undiscounted Within ~ More than ~ More than
cash flow 1 year 1 year 2 years
EBHEY oron butlessthan butless than
Carrying [k 3 demand 2years 5years  More than
amount RS —FRE -8 —F# 5years
The Group KEE BEE REAE BEBNE (BFIRE BFRIE LE#
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR¥Trn AR%Tn AR%ETR ARETn AR®Txn
At 31 December 2009 RZBENF+=AZ+-H
Borrowings &8 352,785 367,121 263,202 79,641 22,308 1,970
Derivative financial instruments fTEeRTE 2,750 2,750 1,833 917 - -
Trade payables and bills payables BRRZEFRERNRE 72,824 72,824 72,824 - - -
Accruals and other payables e BR R EMENTA 22,699 22,699 22,699 = = =
At 31 December 2008 RIBZNFT-A=1-H
Borrowings B 345,475 361,302 127,495 127,112 101,662 5,033
Derivative financial instruments fTEeRIA 5,014 5,014 - - 5,014 -
Trade payables and bills payables ERRZERRENRE 69,764 69,764 69,764 = = =
Accruals and other payables et B A R A ERE 20,558 20,558 20,558 - - -
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3. Financial risk management (continued) 3. H¥REKREEZ)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEERBREEE)
(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) b)  RBEzEEE)
Total
contractual
undiscounted Within ~ More than ~ More than
cash flow 1 year 1 year 2 years
EHES oron butlessthan but less than
Carrying MARR demand 2years 5years  More than
amount RS —FRE -5 —F# 5years
The Company KAF REE REAE BEENE (EFEWME BFRIE L%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETr AR%Tn AR%ETR ARETnt AR%Txn
At 31 December 2009 R=BE2AE+=A=1+-H
Borrowings e 168,800 174,462 117,419 57,043 - -
Derivative financial instruments fTEEMIE 2,750 2,750 1,833 917 - -
Accruals and other payables [T B R R ENTA 1,834 1,834 1,834 = = =
Financial guarantees to subsidiaries HEERTFAR 82,215 82,215 42,215 20,000 20,000 -
At 31 December 2008 RZZENETZA=1-H
Borrowings 58 223,810 226,067 55,331 113,559 57177 -
Derivative financial instruments fTEeRIA 5,014 5,014 - - 5014 -
Accruals and other payables fEFT ER R E MR F0R 2,600 2,600 2,600 - - -
Financial guarantees to subsidiaries HBERTFAR 57,245 57,245 7,245 10,000 40,000 =
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates as the Group has no
significant interest-bearing assets. The Group’s exposure to changes
in interest rates is mainly attributable to its bank borrowings. Bank
borrowings at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-
rate risk. Bank borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest-rate risk. Details of the Group’s bank borrowings have been
disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and to hedge
its variable rate by fixed rate instruments, when necessary. Various
scenarios are simulated taking into consideration refinancing, renewal
of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging. Based on the
various scenarios, the Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk
by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest rate swaps
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to
fixed rates. Generally, the Group raises long-term borrowings at floating
rates and swaps them into fixed rates. Under the interest rate swaps,
the Group agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals
(primarily semi-annually), the difference between fixed contract rates
and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed
notional amounts.

During 2009 and 2008, the Group’s borrowings at variable rate were
denominated in United States dollars (“USD”), RMB and Hong Kong
dollars (“HKD”).

It is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points as at
31 December 2009 in bank borrowing interest rates for bank loans with
all other variables held constant would decrease/increase the profit after
taxation by approximately RMB3,210,000 (2008: RMB3,121,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and
had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non derivative
financial instruments in existence at that date.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with most of the
transactions settled in RMB. Foreign exchange rate risk arises when
future commercial transactions or recognised assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The Group’s assets and liabilities, and transactions arising from its
operations primarily do not expose to material foreign exchange risk.
Other than certain trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
borrowings and derivative financial instruments denominated in USD and
HKD, details of which have been disclosed in Note 13, Note 15, Note 18
and Note 21 respectively, the Group’s assets and liabilities are primarily
denominated in RMB. Other than approximately 33% (2008: 31%) of the
sales are denominated in USD and certain expenses in HKD, the Group
mainly generates RMB from sales in Mainland China to meet its liabilities
denominated in RMB. The Group has not used any forward contracts as
the cost-benefit is considered not effective. The Group has used foreign
currency bank borrowings to minimize its exposure on foreign exchange
risk.

RMB has experienced certain appreciation in recent years which is the
major reason for the exchange losses arised from operating activities and
exchange gain arised from financing activities recognised by the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008. Further depreciation
or appreciation of USD and HKD against RMB will affect the Group’s
financial position and results of operations.

A 1% strengthening/weakening RMB against USD and HKD as at the
respective balance sheet dates would increase/decrease profit after
taxation by approximately RMB1,200,000 (2008: RMB1,713,000) and
decrease/increase profit after taxation by approximately RMB139,000
(2008: RMB142,000) respectively, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gain/loss on translation of USD denominated bank borrowings and
foreign exchange loss/gain on translation of HKD denominated cash and
cash equivalents.
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(e) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because certain
investments held by the Group are classified as available-for-sale financial
assets. As the amount of such financial assets is not material to the
Group, the exposure to price risk is considered to be insignificant.

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the
basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current
and non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet)
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity”, as
shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net debt.

During 2009, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2008,
was to maintain the debt equity ratio to be in a net cash position. The net
cash amounts at 31 December 2009 and 2008 were as follows:
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2009 2008

—EBhEF —ET)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Total borrowings (Note 18) REE(MFE18) (352,785) (345,475)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERREEEY

(Note 15) (FfF5E15) 514,744 386,619

Net cash FIRE 161,959 41,144

The increase in the net cash position during 2009 resulted primarily from
the net cash generated from operating activities.
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

3.3  Fair value estimation

Effective 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to HKFRS
7 for financial instruments that are measured in the balance sheet at fair
value. This requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the
following fair value measurement hierarchy:

° Level 1 — Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities. The Group does not have this type of financial
instruments.

° Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). As at 31
December 2009, the Group had derivative financial instruments
of RMB2,750,000 (2008: RMB5,014,000) that are within this
category.

° Level 3 — Inputs for asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). As at 31
December 2009, the Group had available-for-sale financial assets
of RMB400,000 (2008: RMB400,000) that are within this category.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market is determined by valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2. Otherwise it is included in level 3.

3. BHX¥EKREEZ)
3.3 QY {EME

—EENF—FA B AEBRATEY
BREEB7TERSRIEAEEEAGBGRIEAR
BETEMNENR  EREZRTINAABETZ
EREBEBAREBETE

. HREE R BEEET R RE CREHR
B)(FIE) AKELEMNBEENSH
-

. BT EABIBIENREIN  ZEEMNA
EMRTE R E M A - 7] AEE (BNF
ER ) s (BREER) (F2E) -
R-ZEZNF+-_A=+—H AEH
HABIERNITES R T E2,750,000
TARE(ZZZN\F : 5014,0007T A
R¥) -

. BEEMA GBI IEKEATBRMSERED
BARIZEABR|A) (FE3E) - R=F
TNF+_A=+—08  AEEEEE
AR B A A] 4 & < B8 & ZE400,0007T A
R¥E(=—ZZ)\£F : 400,000 A RE) o

RBEERMBSEENESRTANRAEER
REERTEE - AEXRTEENBAIBEED
S8E(ME)  BEDKBIEBNEEME -
M E—SRTANRIAEBEMRENMEEXN
BWARABRYE  AZERTAIAEZE -
BRIZIAZESE -
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor
actions in response to market conditions. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
lives, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(b) Estimated impairment of intangible assets, inventories and
trade receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of intangible assets,
inventories and trade receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of intangible assets, inventories and trade receivables.
Provisions are applied to intangible assets, inventories and trade
receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be recoverable. The identification of impairment
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of intangible assets, inventories and trade receivables and
provision for impairment in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

I TEEABR AR

A ERE A TR K EMRR B S A&
HEELRHE - BRBREZFENAELAAE
ZARREIATEA o

AEBFARKERED G RHE - AEER
HERBERZELSANERERER - AT
Prmil < st RBRREFEH T —EAMBRFEE
ENBBRAEENENAE 2EXRRER °

(@) #%F - BERRBZMETIAEY
AEBEEEBETEME - BFEERE AT
ARERRERTERS - ARMGERZELUE
BERINEZYME  BEERBZERA RS
MBELERITE  AFERMBZEFLREFY
FREMSRREHEREMHBREAES - &
A RFEHLR G FY - BEE LM
Efx - M RMBRRINRE 2 T E B RE
RAMEZIFRBEE -

(b) J|EEE FEREBUXZIRARZMEE
AL

AEERBEVEE  FEMERXSERZ
A EERIEL 27 HE - LBV EE - 78
FEW X Z iR R AE LR (E B R - i IR FIHKB
ABEMBRT—E A REERKE - BiEER
REFEE FEMEKRRZ SRR - #5REE
BB M HE R - WRESBARINRET A
B FHEZHEATEAELREDHHETLE
E - FERERR SRR 2R E AR BARE
B
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

(c) Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

5. Turnover and segment information

(a) Turnover

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing of fine chemicals
from natural resources for use in aroma chemicals and pharmaceutical
products and the trading of natural materials and fine chemicals.
Turnover for the Group represents revenue from sale of goods.

4. EREFHEFTRMEE)

(c) FrfEHt
AEBFEETEMFTBEREGRAER - &
BEZRMAEHERE  REFLERHE -
E—REBBRET  BHAZXHMAEMIR
MREREETHENETERN - AREREY
EERBANBINIKOGE - REABBE
AAERMREE MHFFEHNZERBER
HRRENEEIR  EERHTEED
It FEE E R AT IS R ARE M B -

5. SHEHEEKDIHEH

(a) EXE®E
AEBEFEREFAAAERR ERMELE
M UARFS B ERREEERUREEXR
REH RRBMEEER  AEELEEHERENHE
EMmATEE 2B o

2009 2008
—EZAF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
Sale of goods $H& & @
(net of value-added tax) (BB ER) 728,494 739,973

(b) Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Executive
Directors. The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal reporting
in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The Executive
Directors have determined the operating segments based on these
reports. The Executive Directors consider the business from product
perspective.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group is organised into two main operating
segments:

(1) manufacturing and selling of fine chemicals; and

2) trading of natural materials and fine chemicals.

(b) HWBEH

HITESAITBLERKRE - WITESEMAR
SENAIRE  UFHRBEEDEER © ¥
TERBZSREEDEENT - YITERR
EmAEEEEKHMEY -

ENF+-_RA=+—H FEESRW

EEMHERALEER R

—
—
—

@ EBEERARMMEAM SRR -
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5. Turnover and segment information (continued)

(b) Segment information (continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2009 are as

5.
(b)

HEBERDHBER (7

(%)

BHE_TTENF+_A=+T—HLEFEZHH

follows: M
2009 2008
—EZThF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETT
Revenue Wz
Manufacturing HE 655,959 630,694
Trading =L 72,535 109,279
Total revenue miEs 728,494 739,973
Segment results D EBELE
Manufacturing HE 160,926 179,159
Trading 25 6,162 2,919
Unallocated corporate RAOMAEIEH — F5E
expense — net (30,074) (41,333)
Finance costs, net BB KA ~ JFEE (16,036) (6,776)
Income tax expense FrS RS2 (13,296) (19,513)
Profit for the year F N A 107,682 114,456
Other segment items included in the consolidated income statement are  FFALZREWER 2 HMHEHEB AT
as follows:
Manufacturing Trading
EE 85
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EBEEAF | ZZETEN\F | ZEBEAFE | ZTTN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTR | ARBTT | ARSTR AR%TT
Depreciation (Note 7) e (FsE7) 26,136 21,170 107 96
Amortisation (Notes 6 and 8) B (M6 8) 8,778 5,227 - =
(Reversal of)/provision for ER A ERE
impairment of intangible (Bm), BfE
assets (Note 8) (fzE8) (856) 5,412 - =
(Reversal of)/provision for FERE
impairment of inventories (Fm), Bt
(Note 12) (FfFzE12) (255) 928 (5,721) 5,733
Write-down of inventories FERE(HiE12)
(Note 12) 1,396 - - -
Provision for/(reversal of) FEI R B IRFORE
impairment of R (BEE)
trade receivables (Note 13) (F$7E13) 109 51 17 (29)
(Reversal of)/provision for HoAth fE WRORE
impairment of other receivables (Bm), BfE
(Note 14) (Mt5E14) (3,000) 3,000 - -

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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5. Turnover and segment information (continued)
(b) Segment information (continued)
The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2009 and capital

expenditure for the year then ended are as follows:

5. SHEHER?BER(#E)

(b) SBERGE)
N-ZBENFE+-_A=+—RAZBEREED
HARBEZALFEZERAASTWT ¢

2009 2008
—EENE —ZTENE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETIT

Segment assets PEEE
Manufacturing HE 705,035 679,159
Trading = 21,583 30,875
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREEEY 541,866 423,983
Other corporate assets Hi AR EE 47,638 83,643
Total assets BEHRE 1,316,122 1,217,660

Segment liabilities PEEE
Manufacturing HE 97,343 92,881
Trading 25 7,251 10,303
Bank borrowings RITER 321,015 312,056
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAR 10,500 13,500
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFT SR B & 3,886 2,070
Other corporate liabilities HEMATEE 32,142 37,878
Total liabilities BfER%E 472,137 468,688
2009 2008
—ZTNE —TENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T

Capital expenditure BEAREX
Manufacturing HE 43,407 87,845
Trading =L 98 91
43,505 87,936

Segment assets consist primarily of land use rights, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and receivables. Segment
liabilities comprise operating liabilities. They exclude items such as
cash and cash equivalents, taxation and corporate borrowings. Capital
expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (Note
7), land use rights (Note 6), and intangible assets (Note 8).

DWEETERRE I MERE DX BER
R BIZEE  HFEREBEFHE - nHARE
BRELLEE BEFEERELRERESRE
B REKAREBEEEAR - BEXARAXEREYD
% BB NG (RE7) ~ Tioe AR (FEEe)
AR & E (M 5E8) 2 1B -

ANNUAL REPORT 2009
TN FFR 85



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

5. Turnover and segment information (continued)

HEBERDBER 7

(b)  Segment information (continued) PEER(E)
The Group’s two operating segments operate in three main geographical KESFR=AEEHELE -
areas.
2009 2008
—EBNE “TTN\EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Turnover S
— Mainland China — R A 484,267 509,424
— Europe —BUM 143,138 117,290
- Asia — g
(excluding Mainland China) (P ERHERIN) 56,546 82,295
— Others — HAh 44,543 30,964
728,494 739,973
Sales are allocated based on the places/countries in which customers  $EEREIERFfEHE, BROE
are located.
2009 2008
“EENE —TTN\EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Total assets BEEBE
— Mainland China — R A 1,250,453 1,145,388
- Hong Kong — B8 63,784 70,039
- Unallocated —RHH 1,885 2,233
1,316,122 1,217,660

Total assets are allocated based on where the assets are located.

No geographical analysis of capital expenditure is presented as
substantially all of the Group’s capital expenditure was incurred in
respect of assets located in Mainland China.

Revenues of RMB156,126,000 (2008: RMB129,798,000) and
RMB92,787,000 (2008: RMB73,590,000) are derived from two major
customers. These revenues are mainly attributable to the manufacturing
segment.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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6. Land use rights - Group 6. THFERAE-KE
The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating 7 5= B 72 1 Hb 55 F 4 7 #E 2545 TE [ 4C & 72 49 2k
lease payments and their net book values are analysed as follows: 12 - HREFEITET -
2009 2008
—ZETAF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFIT
In Mainland China, held on RABIAM - 2102504
Leases of between 10 to 50 years 9,851 8,631
2009 2008
—EEhF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Opening net book amount FYMREFE 8,631 8,741
Additions NE 1,330 -
Amortisation of prepaid operating TR B A FRIE
lease payments (Note 24) (FF5E24) (110) (110)
Closing net book amount BR R IR D FE 9,851 8,631

ANNUAL REPORT 2009
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7. Property, plant and equipment - Group

7. UE- BERRE-£FHE

Leasehold
improvements,
office furniture
and equipment
Plant and REmE - Motor  Construction-
Buildings machinery  #{§ BAE vehicles  in-progress Total
BY  HEREE  BARRE RE EEIR Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TT  AR®TR AR®TT  AR®Tr  AR%Tx
At 1 January 2008 R-BENF-F-H
Cost KA 57,304 142,641 7,863 3,809 168,510 380,127
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (8,891) (28,825) (2,339) (3,233) - (43,288)
Net book amount REFE 48,413 113,816 5,524 576 168,510 336,839
Year ended 31 December HE-ZEN\E
2008 +=A=t-ALEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 48,413 113,816 5,524 576 168,510 336,839
Additions ANE - 256 1,088 244 57,825 60,313
Transfers B3 55,729 117,872 - - (173,601) -
Disposals (Note 32) HE(M332) - - (1) @7) - (68)
Depreciation (Note 24) e (iod) (2,729) (16,902) (1,145) (490) - (21,266)
Closing net book amount FRIREFE 101,413 215,042 6,346 283 52,734 375,818
At 31 December 2008 R-ZEENE
t-A=t+-R
Cost KA 113,033 260,769 9,787 3415 52,734 439,738
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (11,620) (45,727) (3,441) (3,132) = (63,920)
Net book amount REFE 101,413 215,042 6,346 283 52,734 375,818
Year ended 31 December HE_BENE
2009 t=AZT-ALEE
Opening net book amount ENEEFRE 101,413 215,042 6,346 283 52,734 375,818
Additions NE - 365 309 - 33,957 34,631
Transfers & 161 31,870 - - (32,031) -
Disposals (Note 32) & (fir3E32) = = (15) = = (15)
Depreciation (Note 24) & (WizEod) (3,287) (21,373) (1,363) (220) - (26,243)
Closing net book amount FRIEEFE 98,287 225,904 5277 63 54,660 384,191
At 31 December 2009 RZBENE
t-A=t+-H
Cost N 113,194 293,004 9,940 3,415 54,660 474,213
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (14,907) (67,100) (4,663) (3,352) - (90,022)
Net book amount REFE 98,287 225,904 5,277 63 54,660 384,191

The Group’s buildings including buildings under construction, totalling
RMB129,300,000 (2008: RMB112,038,000) are built on pieces of land
in Mainland China with lease terms of 50 years up to December 2047,

December 2048, May 2053 and April 2054 respectively.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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7. Property, plant and equipment - Group (continued)
Depreciation expense of RMB23,644,000 (2008: RMB18,099,000)
has been charged in cost of goods sold and RMB2,599,000 (2008:
RMB3,167,000) in administrative expenses.

7. YE BERRE-SE@E)
178 % F3 2 723,644,000 TARME (Z TN

F 118,099,000t AR ) EIEE
FENF

Rz dH - 2,599,000t AR (=

B ]

3,167,0007t AR RIGT ATFTERE R I °

Analysis of construction-in-progress is: EEIESTAT
2009 2008
—EEAF ZET)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Construction costs of buildings BTN 31,013 10,625

Cost of leasehold improvements THEYZE R E RS

and plant and machinery 23,647 42,109
54,660 52,734

Property, plant and equipment with a net book amount of
RMB84,854,000 (2008: RMB70,090,000) were pledged as collateral for
the Group’s borrowings.

MR [ ) (8 84,854,000 T A REE( — T )\ 4F
70,090,000TC AR ) 2% - BEMEEBEE

RAKEEE 2B S -
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8. Intangible assets - Group 8. EEEE-£E
Patents and Product
technical development
know-how costs
ERER Em Total
1T AR B 8% B 2R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR¥T T AR¥ T
At 1 January 2008 R-ZEZENE—HF—H
Cost [B# 10,061 54,402 64,463
Accumulated amortisation REtEEE (2,690) (21,426) (24,116)
Net book amount IREFE 7,371 32,976 40,347
Year ended BZ-_Z2ZN\F+=A
31 December 2008 =+—HILEFE
Opening net book amount HAFINR A SHE 7,371 32,976 40,347
Additions NE 2,100 25,523 27,623
Amortisation (Note 24) B (Miek24) (1,393) (3,724) (5,117)
Impairment (Note 24) BB (FsE24) (1,400) (4,012) (5,412)
Closing net book amount B4R IR T 5B 6,678 50,763 57,441
At 31 December 2008 R-EENF
+=A=t-8
Cost B 12,161 79,925 92,086
Accumulated amortisation RETHEE S KRB
and impairment (5,483) (29,162) (34,645)
Net book amount WREEE 6,678 50,763 57,441
Year ended BEZ-Z2Zh&F+=A
31 December 2009 =+—HIEEE
Opening net book amount YR SHE 6,678 50,763 57,441
Additions NE - 7,544 7,544
Amortisation (Note 24) B (MieE24) (593) (8,075) (8,668)
Reversal of provision for B (FizE24)
impairment (Note 24) - 856 856
Closing net book amount HAOIR A B 6,085 51,088 57,173
At 31 December 2009 R=ZZ2NF
+t=-A=t+—-H
Cost FXZR 12,161 87,469 99,630
Accumulated amortisation RETE S KRB
and impairment (6,076) (86,381) (42,457)
Net book amount IR EFE 6,085 51,088 57,173
Note:
(@) Amortisation of RMB8,668,000 (2008: RMBS5,117,000) is included in cost of goods 8,668,000TC AR 2 8 85 (—FF/)\F : 5,117,000
sold in the consolidated income statement. TARE)BAGEBEREEERHAR °
) The Group made a reversal for impairment of intangible assets of RMB856,000 (2008: REEE 878 ERER D 856,000 A R

impairment of RMB5,412,000). The amount has been included in cost of goods sold

in the consolidated income statement.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED

90 s TEEAR AT

(=TT )\ : B55,412,0007T AREE) o« ZFKIBE
AR EREREEEREAAEAR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

9. Investments in and amounts due from

subsidiaries - Company

9.

RBLRA 2 REREBWHE2

BIFE - A F

2009 2008

—EEBhE —EENEFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETIT

Unlisted investments, at cost JELETIRE @ BN AE 91,713 91,572
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A B ZRIE 423,434 509,671
515,147 601,243

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and non-interest

bearing, and have no fixed repayment terms.

yom

B

R BARIRIEEREMA RS - YEEE

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of attributable to
incorporation/ Issued and fully  the Group (a)
operation paid up capital AEE
Name Bl AT Principal activities BETR P15 B A
=L R B FTEEK BRRA AR t(a)
EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$95,000 100%
EBRIES REZR 95,000% 7T
EcoGreen Fine Chemicals British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100%
Manufacturing Limited HBRIHES REER E
EcoGreen Fine Chemicals B.V. The Netherlands Sale of fine chemicals EUR18,000 100%
i HERALEMm 18,0008 &
EcoGreen Holding B.V. The Netherlands Investment holding EUR18,000 100%
ol REZR 18,000B1
EcoGreen Investments Limited Hong Kong Inactive HK$2 100%
REREA IEEERAT BB HEXG 28T
Sino Bright International Trading Hong Kong Inactive HK$10,000 100%
Limited 05 TERG 10,0007 7T
HERRESERATA
Doingcom International Limited Hong Kong Trading of HK$10,000 100%
HIREE AR AR & fine chemicals 10,000/ 7T
BEERALED
Xiamen Doingcom Biotechnology Mainland China Manufacturing of RMB50,000,000 100%
Co., Ltd. (b) A3 fine chemicals 50,000,0007T
EF s ENRIR AR 2 7(0) EERAEm AR¥%
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RB AR ZREREBWHE A
BIFIE - D F ()
MBLRZFENT

9. Investments in and amounts due from 0.
subsidiaries - Company (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are:

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of attributable to
incorporation/ Issued and fully  the Group (a)
operation paid up capital AEH
Name B W Principal activities EETR FE1h R
2% R TEER HERE Bot(a)
EEEIEFR QTR b)C) Mainland China Research and US$2,000,000 100%
(Shanghai Fine Chemicals ==YGi i development of 2,000,000% 7T
Company Limited) (b)(c) fine chemicals
MERFBEBALEm
Xiamen Doingcom Chemical Mainland China Manufacturing and RMB66,000,000 100%
Co., Ltd. (b) H B A sale of fine chemicals 66,000,0007T
Bt EFR A (0) EERHERMER ARE
B amEE SBRAF(D)C) Mainland China Sale of forestry products  RMB10,000,000 70%
(Chuxiong Zhongyi Forestry Trading B A i HEMEER 10,000,0007T
Co. Ltd.) (b)(c) AR%
Xiamen Doingcom Enterprise Mainland China Sale of fine chemicals RMB20,000,000 100%
Limited (b) A3 HERANER 20,000,0007T
EFRHESARAED) ARE
Xiamen Hoozyn Life Chemistry Mainland China Research and US$1,400,000 100%
Technology Limited (b) B A development of 1,400,0003 7T
EFIFREEHEBRAFD) fine chemicals
MERFBEBACEm
Xiamen Sinoloon Import and Mainland China Inactive RMB7,000,000 100%
Export Co., Ltd. (b) FRE A e 7,000,0007T
EFRREL QAR ARE
BRAE(0)
Xiamen Sinotek Enterprise Mainland China Manufacturing and RMB20,000,000 100%
Development Co., Ltd. (b) ==YGi i sale of fine chemicals 20,000,0007T
ERREEEZEREBRAF (D) EERHEERAER ARE
Zhangzhou Zhongyi Fine Mainland China Inactive US$3,510,442 100%
Chemicals Co., Ltd. (b) B A EmE 3,510,442% ¢

ENF B TERAR (D)

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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9. Investments in and amounts due from
subsidiaries - Company (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are: (continued)

9. RHEARZREREWHEZR
BIFIE - ADF(4#)
MEBLRZFENT « (&)

Notes: P -
(@) The shares of EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Limited are held directly by the Company. (@) EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Limitedf& 7 142 &) & 1%
The shares of other subsidiaries are held indirectly. #H 0 HaB ARG IMERES -
(b) Xiamen Doingcom Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Xiamen Doingcom”)and Xiamen Doingcom (b) EffHEEFR AT REMRHEYRFEERA
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. are sino-foreign owned enterprises established in Xiamen, SAEFTEAMEREEMATMKIZRIINEED
Fujian Province, Mainland China for a term of 20 years up to October 2017 and July ¥ oREMHA—+E DR ZE—+ETAREC
2024 respectively. Shanghai Fine Chemicals Company Limited is a wholly foreign E-MELAIE - EEBILEER AR ARFH
owned enterprise established in Shanghai, Mainland China for a term of 35 years up i TR 2B KEHA=TH
to March 2040. Xiamen Doingcom Enterprise Limited is a limited liability enterprise E . EZ_ENEFE=A L c BEFFHEZERA A
established in Xiamen, Fujian Province, Mainland China for a term of 20 years up to ARPBEAHEREBFATKIIZBRAR @ &%
June 2024. Xiamen Hoozyn Life Chemistry Technology Limited, Xiamen Sinoloon HeE—t+E ZEZ-2T-MFE A1 - EFMREL
Import and Export Co., Ltd. and Xiamen Sinotek Enterprise Development Co., REBERAR - EFRREHRAGRA T NEFS
Ltd. are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in Xiamen, Fujian Province, HEERRAERLATY ARINENLE  EREAH
Mainland China for a term of 10 years, 17 years and 20 years up to June 2012, April BEREAEMMKY  KREBHRAETE - +HER
2012 and July 2016, respectively. Chuxiong Zhongyi Forestry Trading Co., Ltd. is a —t+E DRE-E——-FE,A - —_E——FWA
limited liability enterprise established in Chuxiong, Yunnan Province, Mainland China R=F—RE+tAHIF - BHEPEHREZSZERR A
for a term of 30 years up to March 2037. Zhangzhou Zhongyi Fine Chemicals Co., PABEANMEEGEBBEMAS 2GR AT KLH
Ltd. is wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Zhangzhou, Fujian Province, B=tTFE-_ZT=+F= At - BMNRRBEMALET
Mainland China for a term of 50 years up to April 2057. ERAG A HE2INELE  EhEANMEREE
MK - EEBAR+FE_SR+FWAL -
(c) The English names of Shanghai Fine Chemcials Co., Ltd. and Chuxiong Zhongyi (0) LEENEERATEEHEMNEZ S ER AT
Forestry Trading Co., Ltd. are for identification purpose only. HE Y LB EHET -
10. Investment in an associate - Group 10. BEQNTIRE-£H
2009 2008
= —TT)F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBFIL
At 1 January ®n—H—H 1,750 -
Investment in an associate N EIRE - 1,750
At 31 December R+=A=+—H 1,750 1,750

The associate is an unlisted company and has not commenced business.
Particulars of the associate are as follows:

AEBREZBERNR  /—EELHRAE -
BRERREMER - BERARZFHBLT

Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully interest attributable
Name operation Principal activities paid up capital to the Group
28 AR R TEXB ERTREERE FEEEGREBIL
Jianyang Zhongtian Mainland China Manufacturing of RMB5,000,000 35%
Forestry Chemical H B i forestry chemicals 5,000,0007C
Co., Ltd. HEEMUEER ARE
BEHAMEERRAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2009

TN FFR 93



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

11. Available-for-sale financial assets - Group 11. JHEEEMEE-£H
2009 2008
—EBEhE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFTT
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BE+=ZHA=+—H 400 400
Less: Non-current portion W EmBNE S (400) (400)
Current portion mEE D - -
Available-for-sale financial assets are those unlisted equity securities. At ESMEERIE ETIRAES
12. Inventories — Group 12. FE-£H
2009 2008
—EThF —ETN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Raw materials JR# 50,589 36,036
Work-in-progress TR 865 1,976
Finished goods LURK o 22,573 45,953
74,027 83,965
Less: Provision for impairment W FERERE
of inventories (1,851) (7,827)
72,176 76,138

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of
goods sold amounted to RMB451,537,000 (2008: RMB425,685,000).

The Group made a reversal for impairment of inventories of
RMB5,976,000 (2008: provision of RMB6,661,000). The amount
has been included in cost of goods sold in the consolidated income

statement.

Write-down of inventories amounted to RMB1,396,000 (2008: Nil) was

included in cost of sales.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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13. Trade receivables — Group

13. BUXFIRR-FE

2009 2008

—EBEhE ZEENFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETT

Trade receivables FEUEZ SR K 205,459 194,112
Less: Provision for impairment B FEU AR B IR FOR (B B

of trade receivables (2,232) (2,106)

203,227 192,006

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

The credit period granted by the Group to its customers is generally 60
to 90 days. The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

R R Z iR IRE ERE A HERS -

AEBEGTEEPZEEH—MRE0EWOX - &
WX BIRRZ IRE DATANT

2009 2008
—EENF —TT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETT
0 to 30 days 0£ 30k 69,233 77,103
31 to 60 days 31ZE 60K 53,726 53,003
61 to 90 days 61Z 90K 39,024 46,593
91 to 180 days 91% 180K 43,182 16,904
181 to 365 days 181%E365K 107 343
Over 365 days 365K A = 187 166
205,459 194,112

Less: Provision for impairment R B ZIRFORE R
of trade receivables (2,232) (2,106)
203,227 192,006

The credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor
impaired can be assessed by reference to the historical information
about counter party default rates. The existing counterparties do not
have significant default in the past. There is no concentration of credit
risk with respect to trade receivables, as the Group has a large number
of customers.

BRABHPNRETEZRRRZIRS - HEE
BEXRREBENENRFTCHLTPHZEIREM
o RENTFPLEEANIER - ARAEE
EPHERK  BBRAERUXSZERZEER
BRI B ET -
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13. Trade receivables — Group (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated
in the following currencies:

13. BERXRZRF—EBE (&)
AEENYG S ERZOEEENTE® A8

b

2009 2008

—EZhF —TT)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Renminbi AR 161,214 157,663
US dollar ETT 42,013 34,343
203,227 192,006

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as
follows:

B2 REFUREREHESNT -

2009 2008

—ZEEhE —EENF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T ARET T

At 1 January —A—H 2,106 2,084
Provision for receivable impairment FEWFRR B 126 22
At 31 December +=—A=+—H 2,232 2,106

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have
been included in administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement. Amounts are charged to the allowance account when there is
no expectation of recovering additional cash.

14. Prepayments and other receivables — Group and

R E R B BRI [ B 8RR AR
BHERTNITHRERA - EEERP DMK
MBI —REAETRHE R T EINR S RN o

14. BREREMGCERRE-KH
7\

Company VN
Group Company
£8 NG
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAE ZZTN\F | ZBThE ZZETN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR | ARBTT | AR¥STR | AR%ETT
Prepayment for purchases BERBTEMNRIE
of raw materials 41,090 58,274 - -
Input value-added tax recoverable A U [l #E TR IS (A A 2,863 1,833 - =
Advances to employees mfE B #K 166 99 - =
Others Hib 1,369 21,287 56 82
45,488 81,493 56 82

The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate their fair values
and are mainly denominated in RMB.

The Group made a reversal for impairment of other receivables of
RMB3,000,000 (2008: provision of RMB3,000,000). The amount has
been included in administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.
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15. Pledged bank deposits, cash and cash 15. EEHAZBTER RekEE
equivalents — Group and Company HELEE —&E£ERAF
Group Company
&5 AF
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAE | ZZTN\F ZBEhE ZETN\HF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETT | AR¥TR ARETET
Pledged bank deposits BB 2 RITER 27,122 37,364 - -
Cash and cash equivalents Re MERBAEEE
Cash at bank and on hand SRITNFEERS 514,744 386,619 21,626 1,778
541,866 423,983 21,626 1,778

The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits, cash and cash

equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

IREEEEEENSRENT

REBEFRZRITER  REAFRRESHERH

Group Company
£m AT

2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAFE | —_TTN\F ZBBEREFE —TT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTR  ARBTT | AR%STR | AR%ETT
Renminbi AR 505,183 377,490 - -
Hong Kong dollar BT 13,853 17,146 8,105 1,183
US dollar v 21,720 27,506 13,521 595
Euro B 7 1,089 1,841 - -
Others HAh 21 = - =
541,866 423,983 21,626 1,778

As at 31 December 2009, the Group has cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB478,061,000 (2008: RMB348,969,000) denominated
in RMB, which is not a freely convertible currency in the international
market and its exchange rate is determined by the People’s Bank of

China.

At 31 December 2009, bank balance of RMB27,122,000 (2008:
RMB37,364,000) have been pledged to banks to secure credit facilities

granted to subsidiaries.

The cash and cash equivalents are not exposed to material credit risk.

HEXHPBEARRITEE °

TTARY

— ==

R_ZETZNF+_A=+—8 ' "EELER
SRR TEH #478,061,000t AR (=
TE)\4F : 348,969,000TT AR - HUAR
BOIE BATHERBEEMEZERERE

R-ZEZNF+_-_HA=+—H - #27,122,000
J\%F : 37,364,0007T AR )

ZIRITFHRE T IAEIRIERKE A R RRITER

(BT I o

BehERAHRELERIRBEEKRH
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16. Share capital, premium and share options - 16. BRA - ZENBERE-£EK
Group and Company NG|
(a) Share capital - Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (@) REA—BREEOIBIZEER

Nominal value

Number of of ordinary
shares shares
Authorised: EE BEE LiEREE
(thousands) RMB’000
(&) AR®T T
At 1 January 2008, RZZZENF—-—H—H -
31 December 2008 —ETN\EFEF+A=+—HBRK
and 31 December 2009 —EENF+A=+T—H 2,000,000 212,000
Number of Nominal
fully paid value of
shares ordinary Share
[ & shares Premium Total
Issued: BE{T: BHEE EEREE B EE &5t

(thousands) RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(FR) AR®BTR ARBTRT ARETR

At 1 January 2008 R=ZEZEN\F—H—H 469,890 49,653 188,888 238,541
Repurchase of shares (Note i) (o1 AR 1 (B i) (4,680) (421) (7,047) (7,468)
At 31 December 2008 RZZTZENEF
+=—A=+—H 465,210 49,232 181,841 231,073
At 1 January 2009 and RZZZNF—A—HXK
at 31 December 2009 R_ZETIF
+=—A=+—8H 465,210 49,232 181,841 231,073
Note(): The Company repurchased 4,680,000 of its own shares through purchases on  [fi&(): BE=ZTET\F+-A=+—HLEFE ' A27RK
the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 December 2008. Such shares were B 22 FTRE [B] H 4,680,000A% AR 17 ° sZ2 M0 B Bl
cancelled following the repurchases and accordingly the issued share capital of BRI RAR QAR B BITIRAINE & EmERER
the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The total amount Lo BERMAXNz2HEE  BFEEHEEE
paid to repurchase the shares, including relevant direct costs of RMB68,000, was F368,0007T A R# + &7,047,0007T A R EE I HABZ
RMB?7,047,000 and has been deducted from share premium. REFHR -
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16. Share capital, premium and share options -
Group and Company (continued)
(b) Share options
Pursuant to a resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed on
16 February 2004, a share option scheme (“the Share Option Scheme”)
was approved and adopted. Under the Share Option Scheme, the
Company’s directors may, at their sole discretion, grant options to any
employee, non-executive director, supplier, customer, person or entity
that provides research, development or other technological support
to the Group, shareholder and adviser or consultant of the Group to
subscribe for shares in the Company at a price per share of not less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer
of grant; or (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share. A nominal consideration of RMB1.04 (equivalent of
HK$1) is payable on acceptance of the grant of options. The maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the
Group from time to time must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the share
capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The Share Option
Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years up to February 2014.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle
the options in cash.

16. ﬁﬁ‘“Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ fER
NE(E)

(b) EERAE

BEARBDRER -_ZZNFE - A+ NBREB

ORFHE - BER 8 ([ AT S )) Bt
HERR - RIFEAIAERTE - $’Aﬂ§$—f’£\
BEBRAASETMES FRTES - #HE

ER Eﬁ&%$%lﬁ1ﬁ¥&ﬁm&m§%
2 NS B8 LA e AN £ AR 5 K B R ok S s R
RIS ILERE  RETRTERUTESEY
SRERABAQRTRND : ()FEBHEBRS
FrEEREERABZROUTE : () BER
HEBRREER S BB S B REXRFERR
@iﬁwmﬁ-&mk@@@ TE 5 4 B A e

S AR N BEREI.0ATARE (HHER1B
7m IR AR T B R A R B TR AN 2 A fa]
A B AR M S 135 4B o R AT 5 2 BT S R AR A
ETEMA FRAZROBE  BE2AXTE
BB A BT B BITIRAS0% © B2
AR AIOE HEE-ZT—WE_AIF - A%
B EET R TET BRSNS SR
RRHE o
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16. Share capital, premium and share options -
Group and Company (continued)

(b) Share options (continued)

Movements of the number of share options outstanding during the year

and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

16. BREX > HZENERE-SEK
(b) EBRE(E)

mARTTEBRES R M H B INEFIITEE
RERZEBINT :

2009 2008
—BEIF —ETN\F
Average Average
exercise exercise
price price
in HK$ Options in HK$ Options
per share (thousands) per share  (thousands)
BRER B IR R BB B AR
FHITEE (F) | FHTEE (F1)
At 1 January n—H—H 1.38 31,010 1.38 32,210
Cancelled during the year F AT 1.39 (240) 1.39 (1,200)
At 31 December R+=—HA=+—8 1.38 30,770 1.38 31,010

All outstanding share options as at 31 December 2009 are exercisable
(2008: 26,138,000 options out of 31,010,000 are exercisable).

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following
expiry dates and exercise prices:

RZZEZNE+_A=+—8 - FIERTE
REERE ( —ZFZ/)\F : 31,010,000 £ A #Y
26,138,00085 &% #E ) A] T171& ©

TEF AR RITE B BB AR 8y B AR B AN TR (B 4D
T

Share options

i IR e
2009 2008
Exercise price —EZhF —TT)N\F
HK dollar per share (thousands) (thousands)
Expiry date Z|H B BRETTEE (F4) (F)
May 2011 —ET——%AH 1.39 16,000 16,240
June 2014 —T—FERA 1.37 14,770 14,770
30,770 31,010

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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17. Other reserves — Group and Company
(a) Group

17. Hitt@EE-EERQH
@ £

Share
Capital options

Statutory  redemption equity Currency
Capital Contributed reserves (i)  reserve (iv) reserve Hedging translation
reserve (i) surplus (ii iE  RAEE BRE  reserve  reserve Total
RARE) BHBAG) AR Rl  RARE  HNBE  ENGE gt
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
AEETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETn ARET:R
At 1 January 2008 RZEENE-F-A 0685 9,500 34,749 - 6,869 - (40) 51,763
Employee share option scheme: ESERERE
- Value of share options granted -REBRE/ BE = - - - 913 - _ 913
— Cancellation of share options —hiE - - - - (17) - - (1)
Transfer from retained eamings RERTIER - - 8,098 - - - - 8,098
Repurchase of shares Gl - - - 421 - - - 421
Cash flow hedges RenEti
— Fair value losses during the year -FEATESR - - - - - (5,014) - (5,014)
Currency translation differences EiZR - - - - - - 47 47
Balance at 31 December RZEENE+=H
2008 St-Azks 685 9,500 4,847 421 7611 (5,014) 7 56,057
At 1 January 2009 R=3EnE-A-A 685 9,500 42,847 421 7,611 (5,014) 7 56,057
Employee share option scheme: EEERETS:
- Valug of share options granted -RHERE ER - - - - 243 - - 243
- Gancellation of share options —shE R - - - - (58) - - (58)
Transfer from retained earnings RARMEEZ - - 355 - - - - 355
Cash flow hedges REREHn
- Fair value gains during the year ~-EEATENE - - - - - 2,064 = 2,064
Currency translation differences ErRzE - - = = = = 9) 0)
Balance at 31 December RZEEAETZR
2009 Zt-RAzkR 685 9,500 43,202 421 7,1% (2,750) 2) 58,852
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17. Other reserves - Group and Company (continued) 17. Hit@E-—FEBR AT
(b) Company (b) AFH
Capital Share options
redemption equity
Capital  reserve (iv) reserve Hedging
reserve (i) RAEE ERE reserve Total
R 1) B (v) RAGHE G @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTRT AR¥Tn AR¥Trn AR¥Tn AR%ETn
Balance at 1 January 2008 RZBENF-F-Hz&s 90,941 = 6,869 = 97,810
Employee share option scheme: 1B B 2 -
- Value of share options granted —-REBEREER - - 913 - 913
- Cancellation of share options — iR = = (1) = (171)
Repurchase of shares el S - 421 = = 421
Cash flow hedges Renssn
— Fair value losses in year - EENFEER - - - (5,014) (5,014)
Balance at 31 December 2008 R-ZEBENE+ZA
=t-RAz&Es 90,941 421 7,611 (5,014) 93,959
Balance at 1 January 2009 RZESNE-F-Hz&H 90,941 421 7,611 (5,014) 93,959
Employee share option scheme: EEBREE
- Value of share options granted —BHBREEE - - 243 - 243
— Cancellation of share options —ESHEE AR = = (58) = (68)
Cash flow hedges Remen
— Fair value gains in year —FEATERE - - - 2,264 2,264
Balance at 31 December 2009 RZEZhE+=A
=t+-Az&s 90,941 421 7,796 (2,750) 96,408

Notes: BT

i) Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value (i) AEBENFEERE_TZNF_ A +XBEMR
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the share exchange on 16 FF7 U B Bt 28 2 B A 1 E’Jﬁﬁﬁi@zﬁ’/}ﬁ%ﬁtﬂﬁﬂi
February 2004 over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in iR {p Z BRAEER °
exchange therefor.

Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the costs of PiN/NGT! ﬁzlﬂuﬁﬁ?a WE—TTMFE-_A+/NHEH
investments in subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the share exchange on 16 February F U i T B8 A R A48 B A AN BB AR 1 R B 1T AR ER
2004 over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange iR E 2 RAEERZERE

therefor.

(ii) Contributed surplus represents the capital contribution from an executive director (i) BERBRIEARRNR —BRITESREEEZRR
and an indirect substantial shareholder of the Company, as part of a group SESHEFELZHEE -
reorganisation exercise.

(iif According to the articles of association of the relevant subsidiaries established (i) R 35 A R B AR S 2 B BB B A B 2 AR 4% = A2 4
in Mainland China and the Mainland China rules and regulations, Mainland China Bl R AB R A B At 35 B R AR 0] - AR B b Y B A A
subsidiaries are required to transfer not less than 10% of their net profit as stated ASEATRRER R E A5 R R 2 F IS ®
in their annual financial statements prepared under Mainland China accounting KGR ERTDR0% - BAEERTEE &
regulations to statutory reserves before the corresponding Mainland China ARARE - BEAEAESENE@MB AR =M
subsidiaries can distribute any dividend. Such a transfer is not required when the BEARE0%H - BIBABEEE - AE N ESER B
amount of statutory reserves reaches 50% of the corresponding subsidiaries’ REHFANBARER  BATBMBARLE
registered capital. The statutory reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the RIRSIE AR BARRA - HESERNEL
corresponding subsidiaries, to expand the corresponding subsidiaries’ production Al Z BRSNS RBR A =HE - BIGRAH B
operations, or to increase the capital of the corresponding subsidiaries. Upon Qﬂﬂﬁﬁii&;?@?é@@;ﬁ?ﬂﬁé W BIRBRER
approval by resolutions of the corresponding subsidiaries’ shareholders in general RBBHAREBLLOIBITAR - R NF
meetings, the corresponding subsidiaries may convert their statutory reserves into +ZA=+—8 EfREtEBERAFTNEER
registered capital and issue bonus capital to existing owners in proportion to their BEEENIMELRS0% ARBE—TTLF
existing ownership structure. As at 31 December 2008, the amount of statutory T A=+ AN EEEEE -
reserve of Xiamen Doingcom has reached 50% of its registered capital and
accordingly, no further transfer to its statutory reserves has been made during the year
ended 31 December 2009.

(iv) The capital redemption reserve relates to the cancellation of the Company’s own (V) gﬁgm = 1@%%“& HANFZRGBHE - E’\\:E
shares. The increase in the year ended 31 December 2008 represents the nominal NE+ = ~ +-A ﬂ: $f§ A R E R
value of the 4,680,000 shares cancelled during the year as shown in Note 16. 4,680, OOOHXHX{” (FHEE16) T EEAE

) . v) BRERSHESDNANE(EFTA) - ARAAIHD IR

(v) The Company’s other reserves totalled RMB278,249,000 (2008: RMB275,800,000) BE 18 40 7 578 249,000 7 A M (= T = )\ 4 /:

which, under the Company Law (revised) of the Cayman Islands subject to certain
conditions, are available for distribution to shareholders.
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18. Borrowings — Group and Company

18. BE-KEBEKRAF

Group Company
£8 AT

2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE | —ZTT)\F  ZBEBLE —ZTT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT  ARETT | AR¥ETRT  ARETT

Non-current JEENER
Government loans LR E R 3,650 4,550 = =
Bank borrowings WIRIRIRITIE S 96,469 219,906 56,469 169,907
100,119 224,456 56,469 169,907

Current BN R

Government loans EIL IR E R 28,120 28,870 = =
Bank borrowings EIRIRRITIEE 224,546 92,149 112,331 53,903
252,666 121,019 112,331 53,903
Total borrowings BB 352,785 345,475 168,800 223,810

Government loans represent unsecured loans from the State
Development and Reform Commission, Xiamen Development Planning
Commission and other Mainland China government bureaus to finance
the Group’s product development activities and expansion of production
facilities.

Government loans of RMB4,100,000 (2008: RMB4,550,000) are
repayable in 2010 to 2018, and bear interest at 2.6% per annum.
Government loans of RMB7,000,000 (2008: RMB8,000,000) are
repayable on demand, and bear interest at 7.6% per annum.
Government loans of RMB20,670,000 (2008: RMB20,870,000) are non-
interest bearing, and shall be repayable on terms and conditions to
be determined between the government bureaus and the Group upon
completion of the relevant project.

BRERNKREBFRERASEZES  EMD
AHEIZR B MHE M B A i BT R 2 A
B3 BRAREERMERIBRLEERE

BT B 74,100,000 T A R#E(— T T )\ 4F -
4,550,000IC AR BER T —ZTFE_T
—N\FHEE WK26BEFHRFE o
B fF B X 7,000,000 7t A REE(Z T T )\ F -
8,000,000 A R# ) ZBE ZK(E18 - WIZF A
R76EE B o BT E20,670,0007T A K
— T )\ 4F : 20,870,0007T A R#E) AR B
ARASIZBRNE BEANEBE T 2GR RIEK
% RBEBBEE TREERER -
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18. Borrowings - Group and Company (continued) 18. BE-KERKQE(#)
The maturity of borrowings is as follows: BEZEFHANAT
Group Company
£5 AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZhE ZZZT)N\F —EZhE —TT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETr | ARETT | AR¥TRT  ARETT
Amounts repayable within a period: BRI T EiREIEE
2R
- not exceeding one year —TBE—F 252,666 121,019 112,331 53,9083
— more than one year but not ——F LB
exceeding two years THEBMRE 76,919 122,815 56,469 112,815
— more than two years but not —MENAE - B
exceeding five years PHEBAF 21,350 97,091 - 57,092
— more than five years —RFEE 1,850 4,550 = =
352,785 345,475 168,800 223,810
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows: REEH 2 BEEFZENT
2009 2008
—ZEEhEF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Government loans BT ER 2.0% 2.19%
Bank borrowings RITEE 3.6% 5.3%
The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values. ERAAREERE A FERT -

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following ERRRESEA NI KR BB -
currencies:

Group Company
£H AE
2009 2008 2009 2008

—gBAE | -TT)\F —RBAE C—ITI)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE  ARMTT | ARMTE | ARETR

Renminbi NG 171,770 114,420 - -
Hong Kong dollar BT - 2,940 = =
US dollar ETT 181,015 228,115 168,800 223,810

352,785 345,475 168,800 223,810
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18. Borrowings - Group and Company (continued)
The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities:

18.

EE-SKERAR#)
AEEETIARBMEHEE -

2009 2008
—EENF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETTT

Floating rate =
— expiring within one year ——F A2 H 8,309 11,968
— expiring beyond one year ——&F A EEIER 9,362 4,000
17,671 15,968

All bank borrowings are secured, among which bank borrowings
of RMB20,000,000 (2008: RMB20,678,000) are secured by
, bank
borrowings of RMB82,215,000 (2008: RMB57,245,000)
are supported by the corporate guarantees provided by
the Company, while bank borrowings of RMB238,801,000
(2008: RMB254,810,000) are secured by cross guarantees among

property, plant and equipment of the Group (Note 7)

subsidiaries.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest-rate changes and the
contractual repricing dates at the balance sheet dates are as follows:

FTERITERBEER  HFAETER
20,000,0007T A R# (== ZF )\4F : 20,678,000
TARE)AREENWE - BE M&E (M
7R R1TE 2,215,000t ARE(ZEZ
J\EE 1 57,245,000 ARBE) AR R HE T -
$R17 B 7238,801,0007c A REE( =TT )\ F :
254,810,0007C AR ¥ ) LAF R Bl B SEHELR o

REER  AEENEFENXEHRENE
EBHEMERENRRET

Group Company
58 AT

2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAE ZZTTN\F | ZBELE | ZTTN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR | ARETT | AR®TRT | ARETT
6 months or less 61E A AT 328,685 290,925 168,800 223,810
6-12 months 6—12{& A 20,450 = - =
1-5 years 1—5%F 1,800 50,000 = =
Over 5 years 5P E 1,850 4,550 - -
352,785 345,475 168,800 223,810
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19. Trade payables and bills payable — Group

19. BAXZRARESRE -£H

2009 2008

—EEhE —EENF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ TR ARETT

Trade payables FERR BRI 18,955 12,722
Bills payable EREE 53,869 57,042
72,824 69,764

As at 31 December 2009, the aging analysis of trade payables and bills
payable is as follows:

R-ZBENEF-A=+—H  ENZHER

RENER ZREDITANT -

2009 2008

—ZEThEF —EENF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETIT

0 to 30 days 0£30K 15,730 25,025
31 to 60 days 31260X 9,496 4,628
61 to 90 days 61E 90K 14,842 14,587
91 to 180 days 91E180K 32,262 24,710
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 163 109
Over 365 days B HA865K 331 705
72,824 69,764

The carrying amounts of trade payables and bills payable approximate
their fair values and are mainly denominated in RMB.

RN R SR S B R RE E R E A FER

% BXBUARBREMN -

20. Accruals and other payables - Group and 20. ESFERARHEMEMRE-&
Company ) /N
Group Company
£8 |
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZhE ZET)N\F —EENF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR | ARBTT | AR%STr | ARETT
Payable for construction and purchase JEfTiEEREE Y E -
of property, plant and equipment B MaEEE R 3,189 3,124 - =
Output value-added tax payable FETSHTRIE (B R 5,697 11,302 - =
Accruals for FEETE R
— Administrative expenses —1THE A 15,816 13,959 1,834 2,600
— Government loan interest —BRERA B 3,694 3,475 = =
28,396 31,860 1,834 2,600

The carrying amounts of other payables approximate their fair values and

are mainly denominated in RMB.
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21. Derivative financial instruments - Group and

21. {fTHESRTE-£EEAT

Company
Group Company
£H AFE
2009 2008 2009 2008

—BRhE ZTT)/\F| —BENF =ZTTN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR | ARETI| AR®TRE ARBTT

Interest rate swaps-cash flow hedges F|=iEH] —3H 4

(Note a) =R (FsEa) 2,750 5,014 2,750 5,014
Total SEr 2,750 5,014 2,750 5,014
Less non-current portion: RIERENEB (D
Interest rate swaps-cash flow hedges F|=i5H] —3H 4

R 917 5,014 917 5,014
Current potion mEhER D 1,833 = 1,833 =

Trading and structured derivatives for non-hedging purposes are
classified as a current liability. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is
classified as a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged
item is more than 12 months, and as a current liability if the maturity of
the hedge item is less than 12 months.

Notes:

(a) The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31
December 2009 were USD24,750,000 (2008: USD33,000,000).

At 31 December 2009, the fixed interest rate was 3.3% per annum, and the main
floating rate is LIBOR. Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve in
equity (Note 17) on interest rate swap contracts as of 31 December 2009 will be
continuously released to the consolidated income statement until the repayment of
the bank borrowings (Note 18).

FE R EBEUEREBUETETADEARD
BfE - BREPEBEORBBRER12EA
AR ITETANEHAFESERIFRDA
& - MEREPIAB ORSKBROR12@EA -
AP ERRBAIE -

GG

(@) RZZTAF+_A=1+—8 ' DREENF XK=
HAHNKRESTEAEE24,750,00000 (ZFF )\
£ : £4:33,000,0007T) °

REZFZEAF+=-—A=+—H8 EEFHXR/33
B MEZNZENERSHRBBITRAERE - R=
ZEAF+A=+—R A ERHPSHERS
MBS R R R R BB (BT RE17) - e AR
Blia RakEEERRTERRLE(KFE18)
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22. Deferred tax liabilities — Group 22,

ELEFEH — K H

Deferred tax liabilities have been recognised for the withholding tax AEBEEGEREBATAE ST N\E—A

payable on the profits of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group derived
since 1 January 2008 using a tax rate of 10% (2008: 10%). The following
amount is shown in the consolidated balance sheet:

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months

—BEENENRD
RIF10%WHR(ZFZTN\F : 10%) HRIE
PRSHEE - b

IEYEE: GO AT %R

RiFREER ﬁi%tfﬁlﬂlﬂ"l’

HiB12(8 AR KB R EER IR A E

Withholding tax

RIFTBH
2009 2008
—EZhE —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETTT
At 1 January —H—H 13,500 -
(Credited)/charged to the consolidated e hmk(ER),/
income statement (Note 27) kg (FsE27) (3,000) 13,500
At 31 December +=ZA=+—H 10,500 13,500
23. Other gains/(losses) - net 23. Hftwlkiz (E518) — S5
2009 2008
—EEhF —ETN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Income on government grants BT B R 2 YA 200 =
Realised gain on interest rate swaps F i HY 2 B30 e R AR B ER
- net — R - 6,956
Net foreign exchange gains from A7 HA 2 [ 5 e 358 (B9 5E28) = 1,046
interest rate swap (Note 28)
Net exchange losses (Note 28) FIE B 1E (F17E28) (745) (8,800)
Others EAh 803 545
258 (253)
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24. Expenses by nature 24, RMUEE T ZHEX
2009 2008
—EBEhE ZEENFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT
Amortisation of prepaid operating TEHE & 7H © FRIE 5
lease payments (Note 6) (f3Ee) 110 110
Amortisation of intangible assets mIEEEH
(Note 8) (FfF5E8) 8,668 5117
Depreciation (Note 7) e (FtsE7) 26,243 21,266
(Reversal of)/impairment of intangible B EERE(RR) BE
assets (Note 8) (Ff5E8) (856) 5,412
(Reversal of)/impairment of FERERR), BE
inventories (Note 12) (frzE12) (5,977) 6,661
Impairment of trade receivables e ZZ S IR FORE
(Note 13) (FfF5E13) 126 22
Write-down of inventories (Note 12) FERE(MEE12) 1,396 =
(Reversal of)/impairment of other H R OIR ZORE (B m)
receivables (Note 14) B (FsE14) (3,000) 3,000
Employee benefit expense (Note 25) EERFAAZ(HE25) 27,425 26,708
Changes in inventories of finished BN o AR
goods and work-in-progress FEEF) 24,491 48,293
Raw materials and consumables used ERRM FOEFEm 427,046 377,392
Transportation By 10,440 17,549
Advertising EEEE 88 255
Operating lease payments LiEHERS 3,769 3,643
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EREM B & 1,524 1,521
Other expenses HtwEA 70,245 82,026
Total cost of goods sold, selling and EEEmKA - HER
marketing costs and MisERER AR RITHE A
administrative expenses 591,738 598,975
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25. Employee benefit expense

25. EERAAX

2009 2008
—EENEF —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Wages, salaries, other allowances IE&  #H& - EbEEE
and benefits in kind REYN® 24,828 23,804
Share options granted to directors RTYEEREEZ
and employees (Note 16) fE A (Pi5E16) 243 913
Pension costs — defined contribution BIREB A — EREH K
plans (Note a) #T &l (Ftaka) 2,354 1,991
27,425 26,708

(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the Group
contributes to a state-sponsored retirement plan for its employees
in Mainland China, which is a defined contribution plan. The Group
and its employees contribute approximately 6% to 14% and 0% to
4%, respectively, of the employees’ salary as specified by the local
government, and the Group has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its Hong Kong employees makes
monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings
as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the
Group’s and the employees’ contributions are subject to a cap of
HK$1,000 per month.

During the year, the aggregate amounts of the Group’s contributions
to the aforementioned retirement schemes were approximately
RMB2,354,000 (2008: RMB1,991,000). As at 31 December 2008, the
Group was not entitled to any forfeited contributions to reduce the
Group’s future contributions.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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(a) BAETRAN - EELRTE

REFBEAMER  AEESETFBEAMES
A KRR 2 EREFEMRTEIHEK - NEH
REEBEED IR T BRFMIEEZEBEFHF L
6% E14% K 0% E4% MK  BR 1F H FZ R
Sh - AREBHBABFARBER N RASIRNK
BEMZEE - BFRBA ZRANE G BIAERE
NFRABEZ —VIRABHEE -

AEECREBRBEELEBBIUEEAE
B2 ERERGERFMEAESAE([RES
tE) - RIERESEE - AREREFBE
BEGARRABHERESEIIFEE 2 RE
WAL%E B FETEIHR - MAKEMEESA
SRR 31,0008 7T ©

FR - AEBEBRLEMEARSHE ZHTRE
B4 52354000t ARBE(ZZT )\ &F :
1,991,000 c AR®) - RZZEZNEFE+ A
=+t—HB AEESEDRWHERABERD
HEHEBHER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

25. Employee benefit expense (continued)

(b) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December 2009

is set out below:

25.
(b)

EBERAMBEX(#)

EExHE

BE_TTANF+_A=+—HILFE K&
EZHeEIMT

Salaries,
other Retirement
allowances benefit- Share
and benefits defined options
in kind contribution  granted to
e plans directors
Name of Director Fees Hin2hy BB - RTES Total
BExpsg e REYEN THEHREE ZERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR%¥TRT AR®BTR AR®TR
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yang Yirong GRS - 1,501 10 5 1,516
Mr. Gong Xionghui MR E - 712 9 - 721
Ms. Lu Jiahua EREL+ - 713 9 - 722
Mr. Lin Like WhREE - 715 8 38 761
Mr. Han Huan Guang BECLEE - 1,160 11 38 1,209
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Feng Tao BRE - - - 38 38
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen ERELE 190 15 - 5 210
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John ERBEE 190 15 - 5 210
Mr. Zheng Lansun EEELE - - - 5 5
380 4,831 47 134 5,392
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25. Employee benefit expense (continued)

(b) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December 2008

is set out below:

25.
(b)

EEEFBAZ )

EEME(E)

TZN\F+-_A=+—BULEFE £F

BHE_ZTZ

SZHEET

Salaries,
other Retirement
allowances benefit- Share
and benefits defined options
inkind  contribution granted to
e plans directors
Name of Director Fees H2ah  RIKEF - RTE= Total
B we  REYEN TEREESGEE 2R Fey
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yang Yirong HREEE - 1,516 10 19 1,545
Mr. Gong Xionghui BRIEBS A - 768 8 - 776
Ms. Lu Jiahua BEREL+ - 764 8 - 772
Mr. Lin Like AR ESE - 763 4 140 907
Mr. Han Huan Guang BETE - 1,174 11 140 1,325
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Feng Tao SR E - - - 140 140
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen EREEE 168 13 - 19 200
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John EEBLE 168 10 - 19 197
Mr. Zheng Lansun EERIR S E 42 - - 19 61
378 5,008 4 496 5,923
Note: fzE -

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008:

Nil).

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED

112  diasmcIEEERA

e (ZFTNF : &) -

BEZTAFT _A=+—BLFE  IEEENEMEM



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

25. Employee benefit expense (continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the years ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 exclusively
comprise the five highest paid directors whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis presented above.

During the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008, no emoluments

were paid to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or as compensation for loss of office.

26. Finance income and costs

25. EEEAMEXZE)

(c) AEREEHAL
rEBHE-_TENE+_A=+—BE_-Z
ZEN\FE+_A=S+—BIEFEEZRAELESHA
TrMEERE2EERLLXSTAZALES
HEE.

BE_ZTTNFR-_ZFTTNF+=-A=1+—H
LFE  YERAARREZTHIZAZRSFTA
ITXMERME - EARIIRMNEZ ZEKIE
RRERZ FE o

26. BMEWARKA

2009 2008
—ETAF ZET)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFTT
Interest expense on: FEFRXL
— Bank borrowings wholly repayable —BRAERNEZEHIEE
within five years ZIRITEE (19,196) (20,136)
— Government loans wholly repayable —ARAFAEEEE
within five years ZHFER (529) (605)
— Government loans not wholly —EENAFAEHESE
repayable within five years ZBINER (106) (127)
Net foreign exchange gains on B E R B Ry F 08 K s (MI5E28)
financing activities (Note 28) 188 8,267
(19,643) (12,601)
Less: amount capitalised on W BBREEENMEEEE
qualifying assets 1,425 2,650
Finance costs B E A A (18,218) (9,951)
Finance income BB YA
— Interest income on short term — R ERRTT I A FI B U A
bank deposits 2,182 3,175
Net finance costs FELE R (16,036) 6,776)

Finance cost capitalised during the year have been calculated by applying
a capitalisation rate of 6.1% (2008: 1.8%) per annum on expenditure of
qualifying assets.

R-ZFTNEF - A%ﬁ%ﬁ$ﬂ:ﬁ’]%ﬂﬁﬁ$1ﬁé
BREERZ61%(—ZTT/\F : 1.8%) °
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27. Income tax expense 27. Fi8%iMY
2009 2008
—sEnE =)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF AREFTT
Current tax BABIEA
— Mainland China enterprise — R B FEFTIS R
income tax 16,296 6,173
— Qver provision in previous years — AR EZE 2 FIEH = (160)
Deferred tax (Note 22) EIERIE (f15E22)
~ (Reversal of)/provision for —HEHBRRZFE
withholding tax on profits of BT 2RIMAEH
the PRC subsidiaries (3,000) 13,500
13,296 19,513
Notes: BisE
(a) Hong Kong profits tax (a) EBFIEBH
No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the Group had no assessable profit FR AN 5 BN fR e B B 1S ol IR E R BUR B -
arising in or derived from Hong Kong. LI LB SRS R L B -
(b) Mainland China enterprise income tax (b) PR Rt SRS
The subsidiaries established in Xiamen, Fujian Province, Mainland China are subject H’\EF' lmﬁmgé IS avrd =] /Ejgzo%(
to Mainland China enterprise income tax at a rate of 20% (2008: 18%). In August J\E + 18% ) 2 T BB & TM:%F)’T S0 ©
2003, Xiamen Doingcom was accredited as a New High Technology Enterprise and = ,i)\ﬁl EffHE 2R ARER] A
accordingly is exempted from payment of enterprise income tax for two years starting %ﬁ&fhﬁ.% lZEIIHJEfg 5= TT SRR AN
from year 2003. In November 2006, Xiamen Doingcom transformed itself from a 1%%%?@515 o TRFET— FFﬁqﬂﬁ{tﬁﬁﬁﬁ
domestic enterprise to a wholly foreign owned enterprise. It has obtained approval NG|z Wé‘u—_%iﬂ%i?\\éi% 3 B &S ‘:F' Bl A
from Mainland China Tax Bureau to be exempted from enterprise income tax for iﬁ%ﬁ%%%%ﬁ BEAERNFEREARNCEMESHM
two years starting from the first year of profitable operations, followed by a 50% FHB=F 7 EMEHRARYE - EFIPRE
reduction in enterprise income tax for the following three years. Xiamen Doingcom BRATE ST +FRHAZERKESR -
has commenced to enjoy its tax holiday in year 2007.
On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary Session of the Tenth National People’s RZBEELE=A1+ B FTtEZEARRRXA
Congress passed the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China @?ﬁﬁ?’ﬂ@%@i@ﬁé‘:??)\i A— EIE@{TE’K(DF
("the New Tax Law”) which took effect on 1 January 2008. From 1 January 2008, = AR AMB D ZEFTISH }£>(f¥ﬁﬁﬂxﬁj> S
the income tax rate for the operating subsidiaries mentioned above will be gradually NE—F—H#e  FlEERBEA —JH%E/\ﬁiiﬂ,E
changed to the standard rate of 25% over a five-year transition period. According HANETE S RIZEEEIEY - REEBKHRR_-ZTT
to the Circular 39 passed by the State Council on 26 December 2007, the tax +F+=A :-?—KEUE}@E’]I/%SQ*F@%D TIAE
exemption and reduction will be terminated latest by 2012. GERREREBN T — —FR
(c) Overseas income taxes (c) BN IS B
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with VIN/N TffE}FFfﬁxgiw NEVETERE RS FMKY A
limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and, accordingly, is EHRR2ERAR AU ERCHANRSEESME
exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries established %R VNN TE%%E 3= vl ) NCIDEL S
in the British Virgin Islands are incorporated under the International Business RERZHFSEEEER AR - Bt
Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are exempted from SN B R LB BFTEH -
British Virgin Islands income tax.
(d) Mainland China value-added tax (d) R Bl Ot SR E B
The subsidiaries established in Mainland China are subject to Mainland China value- PR B R bR 37 2 BT R A Rl AE A B b KR I
added tax ("VAT”) at 17% (2008: 17%) of revenue from sale of goods in Mainland 5 B BIE17T%(Z BT )N\F : 17%) °
China and entitled to a VAT export refund at 8% to 13% (2008: 9%) from sale of 25 49 LEM([1EE RJ) BEBOHEE
goods outside Mainland China. Input VAT paid on purchases can be used to offset n] = CRB A8 GRT R A8%E13%
output VAT levied on sales to determine the net VAT recoverable/payable. (2008 : o & AU [E] FE S 1L E R F R RS

(e) Withholding tax

(e)

Pursuant to the New Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a
tax treaty between China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries and an associate established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
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27. Income tax expense (continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the relevant enterprise income
tax rate in Mainland China, where substantially all of the Group’s profit
was earned, and the reconciliation is as follows:

27. FEBiRAx<#)
IAKBERABHANENFTE 2 HE - BIRR
REBASBARED &M AR ERE A
WEEAERREFECERBEAEZR  H
tREATE :

2009 2008
—ZEEAF —ET)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EET T ARETT
Profit before income tax B P45 150 Al g A 120,978 133,969
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates LIRS R FE A 2
applicable to profits in R F R E 7 FIE
the respective countries 15,771 18,343
Income not subject to tax BERBA (1,050) (10,605)
Over provision in previous year VARIEEE Z 5T 2 PTG TR - (160)
(Reversal of)/withholding tax on FEB AR ZIREZAT
dividends of the PRC subsidiaries XSRS (BE), B (3,000) 13,500
Tax losses for which no deferred W B RERIRIEFTIS TR & 2
income tax asset was recognised FrE£ERITAEE 1,575 3,435
Income tax expense FriSfiIE R X 13,296 19,513
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 13.0% (2008: 10.0%). BRANMEFEAR R 513.0%( ZZF N\ F :

As at 31 December 2009, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
approximately RMB103,435,000 (2008: RMB83,343,000), which can
be carried forward to offset against future taxable income. Included in
the tax loss as at 31 December 2009 was a loss of RMB25,423,000
(2008: RMB22,459,000) that will expire during the period from 2010 to
2014 (2008: 2009 to 2013), while other losses can be carried forward
indefinitely. The deferred tax benefit of such tax losses has not been
recognised as it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the unutilised tax losses can be utilised, or the amounts
attributable to specific subsidiaries are insignificant.

10.0%) °

RZBEENF+_A=+—08  ~NEEHKRE
RIS E 18 49108,435,000T A RE(—ZEZ )\
4 : 83,343,0007C A REE) - A 4L 82 85 R 2R E
RBEBRA - RZZTZFNEFF+=—A=+—HZH
B8 B E1825,423,000 T AR (Z TN\
F 122,450,000t ARY)  LEEBENR _-F
—ZEFEE_T—NF(ZZTENF : ZTTNF
E-T—=F)EEm - EMEERERRL
o NI A E AR R A FERBE F A AR
A MIEEERE  ZeBEEERNTAR
WA RE W At Eai R 2 IEEHIE RS
I ERERANR o
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28. Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)
The exchange differences credited/(charged) in the consolidated income

28. EXW#E (ER)FHE
AW RRRA S () MERZHEAE

statement are included as follows: £ T5|EE A
2009 2008
—EZhE ZET)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETT
Net foreign exchange gains from F 245 HA 2 B 5 W 3 58 (P 5E23)
interest rate swap (Note 23) - 1,046
Net exchange losses (Note 23) HIE B 1R (P 5E23) (745) (8,800)
Net foreign exchange gains from BUE S B FE H s
financing activities (Note 26) (FF5E26) 188 8,267
(557) 518

29. Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in

the financial statements of the Company to the extent of RMB4,426,000

(2008: RMB31,316,000).

30. Earnings per share

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

29. ARTFEmFE AEERF

RARBMBHRREEZ A RBERITE AR
1558 F /4,426,000t AREE(ZZZ )N\ F -

31,316,0007T AR #E) o

30. BRAEF
X

BRERBNDIRERNARRGEHE ARGES
FERFAR BT EBRBNEFHEETHE -

2009 2008
—EENF ZTTN\F
Profit attributable to equity holders A RERIEE AEE & T
of the Company (RMB’000) (AREFIT) 107,471 114,237
Weighted average number of ordinary BT S ERNE T
shares in issue (thousands) (FA%) 465,210 467,533
Basic earnings per share BREARBF(ERARE)
(RMB per share) 23.1 Centsfll 24.4 Centsfll
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30. Earnings per share (continued)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The dilutive potential ordinary
shares of the Company mainly comprise the share options. A calculation
is made in order to determine the number of shares that could have been
acquired at fair value (determined as the average monthly market share
price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

30. EBERER#)

3]

TREE BN R A AT #E 0B B
SR RIBC BT LB INEF G R BT
B ARmAEENBEEE BRI R REER
- REBERTEBRERMORBENEEE
B BERAVE(EEARRABMNHFHA
EME)ATBANRMNEKE - RIA LT AEFEN
BOBE - BRKBEETENEDFTHR
BB EHILLE -

2009 2008
—EZhE —EENF
Profit attributable to equity holders RArlE=FAA
of the Company (RMB’000) EERN(ARBTT) 107,471 114,237
Weighted average number of ordinary BT T @R
shares in issue (thousands) INEEFEER(F5T) 465,210 467,533
Adjustments assuming the exercise R IE AR AR AT (5
of share options (thousands) KRR (F5) 4,172 9,501
Weighted average number of ordinary TEEREER TR
shares for diluted earnings per share TRAR Y AkE
(thousands) 8 F5T) 469,382 477,034
Diluted earnings per share BREE AT
(RMB per share) (BIRARE) 22.9 Centsfl 23.9 Centsfll]
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31. Dividends

During the year ended 31 December 2009, a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2008 of RMB11,888,000 (HK2.9 cents/share)
(2008: 2007 final dividend of RMB14,760,000 (HK3.5 cents/share))
and an interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 of
RMB3,279,000 (HKO0.8 cents/share) (2008: 2008 interim dividend of
RMB4,930,000 (HK1.2 cents/share)), were paid by the Company,
totalling RMB15,167,000 (2008: RMB19,690,000).

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2009 of
HKS.0 cents per share, totalling approximately of RMB12,274,000, is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. These financial
statements do not reflect such dividend payable.

31. KE

J‘EAE% —EENF+_A=+—HILEFERN
KRAFHEFZ 15,167, OOOEAEM(_ =N
&F - 19,690,00075AE¢1§)2H K8 DRBRE
11,888,0007T A R (FR2.9%81) 2 =& F
NEXRBKRE(ZZEZ/\F © 14,760,0007T A
R (3. 5,%1m>2:%‘<§t$ﬂiﬁwgﬁu
3,279,000t A R¥E (ZRO.8BI) 2 = F
FHERB(ZZENF : 493000073/\E¢1¥
(BB 2B 2 =SS NFFHRE) °

REVERITZBERBFAG L EAHE_F
ENF+_A=+—HLEFERERRPKEE
B&3.07 Ml - & 34912,274,0007T AREE © BI 75
BRI ERBR NS

2009 2008
—EEAF —ETENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT
Interim dividend paid of HKO0.8 cents BN tﬁﬁ AR
(2008: HK1.2 cents) 0.8 MI(ZZZNF :
per ordinary share 1.278(l) 3,279 4,930
Proposed final dividend of HK3.0 BRAREIRR B E AR E @A
cents (2008: HK2.9 cents) S.OBN(ZZZTNF -
per ordinary share 2.97(0) 12,274 11,888
15,553 16,818
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32. Cash generated from operations 32. ERELECZRS
2009 2008
—ETAE —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Profit for the year FRE T 107,682 114,456
Adjustments for: ETYEHBE
- Income tax expense (Note 27) — s fir sz (FsE27) 13,296 19,513
— Depreciation (Note 7) — & (K1EE7) 26,243 21,266
— Amortisation of: —HHEATRIE
— Land use rights (Note 6) — - {5 R (Y 5E6) 110 110
— Intangible assets (Note 8) — &\ A = (MiREs) 8,668 5117
— (Reversal of)/impairment of — B EERE(ER ), BiE
intangible assets (Note 8) (FfF5E8) (856) 5,412
— Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, —HEWE  BEREEZ
plant and equipment (see below) e, () (BT 15 (7)
- Income on government grants — BT B2 WA (200) -
— Employee share option costs (Note 25) —{E B AR AN (T 5E25) 243 913
— Realised gain on derivative financial —PTES BT A & e
instruments (Note 23) KR35 518 (I E23) - (6,956)
— Net exchange gains on derivative —TESMITAZ
financial instruments (Note 23) b 5 W s 3 58 (T 5E23) - (1,046)
— Interest income (Note 26) —F B A (Ft5E26) (2,182) (3,175)
— Interest expense on bank borrowings —RITEBERBRFERZ
and government loans (Note 26) B (F:E26) 16,272 18,815
Changes in working capital: LEESEH)
— Inventories —FE 3,962 (30,649)
— Trade receivables — R FZIRNR (11,221) (26,353)
— Prepayments and other receivables — B 508 I E b FE IR 36,005 (35,277)
- Pledged bank deposits — BEFRITER 10,242 (5,206)
— Trade payables and bills payable —ERNRZIRFRERNRE 3,060 14,874
— Accruals and other payables — FERT & A & E A FE (S 30E (3,464) (2,844)
Cash generated from operations BEEBEFE RS 207,875 88,963

In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal of WRGEEBEELAER  HEWE  WMERREMH
property, plant and equipment comprise: SHRIBEBREATSIA
2009 2008
—EENF ZETN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT
Net book amount (Note 7) WREFE(ME7) 15 68
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEZE - BEREEL
plant and equipment (B518), M= (15) 7
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYZE - BB RERESHIE
plant and equipment - 75
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33. Commitments 33. &I
(a) Capital commitments (a) EBREE
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Authorised and contracted ERERFTAERERE
but not provided for
- Construction-in-progress —EETRUARYE -
and property, plant 5 M 5% A
and equipment 9,009 18,747
— Product development projects —EmFAEETE 10,400 16,280
- Land use rights — b A 1,915 3,244
21,324 38,271

(b) Operating lease commitments

The Group leases certain premises under non-cancellable operating
lease agreements in respect of property, plant and equipment. The lease
have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The lease
expenditure expensed in the consolidated income statement during the
year is disclosed in Note 24.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows:

(b) REHEIE
AEBMBEZHIAIRBELCEROHEHES
THE - ZSFHAO 2GR A ABRERRE
HREFT— - FARGA KSR HE 2 HERH
S EMN 24 -

AEERBAIAIHESERNO AKX KERES
RERINT -

2009 2008

—EENF ZET)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Not later than 1 year NEBBE—F 2,772 2,314
Later than 1 year and not BB —FRETBERE

later than 5 years 5,770 1,033

Later than 5 years jiisp Ak 15,360 1,333

23,902 4,680

34. Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2009, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

As at 31 December 2009, the Company has provided corporate
guarantees in respect of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries
amounting to RMB103,242,000 (2008: RMB59,891,000).

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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RIZBZBNFT_A=+—HB  *5EHEE
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RZZBTZNF+A=+—H  XRE®ET
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35. Related party transactions

The Company is 42.0% owned by Marietta Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) which is owned by Mr. Yang Yirong. The remaining
58.0% of the shares are widely held.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

(a) Key management compensation

35. BEREEALIRS
RAT42.0%EmB—HIERRBEERFF 2K
B R 2B E MK 2 A B —Marietta Limited
WEH - AT 58.0% A EMALIFE °

TMIRERREALTETZIRS ¢

() EEREBASHE

2009 2008
—EENF ZET)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT
Salaries and other short-term e REMEHESER

employee benefits 5,902 6,051
Share-based payments VARRAD A& 208 /) Sz 1+ 134 496
6,036 6,547

(b) Details of the amount due to a director were: (b) EF—EZ=BREFHFOT:
2009 2008
—EENF —ETN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT
Mr. Yang Yirong HR BT AE 996 1,005

Balances with directors were unsecured and non-interest bearing, and
are repayable on demand.

No advances were made to Mr. Yang Yirong during the year ended 31
December 2009 and 31 December 2008.

EX7HEBnEERAR B RARERERE -

HE_ZZAFE+-A=+—HBEZ-ZZEZEN\F
+—A=1+—HIFE  AEETERIGRE
S B FUE o
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Results ¥
Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=+—-HLEE
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
—ZETRHF ZEERF ZETLF —EENF —EENE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETTT AEETIT AERETTT ARET T
Tunover wE ssadtr 532975 612159 739978 | 728,494
Operating profit R R 82,869 105,592 140,119 140,745 137,014
Finance costs & A (4,896) (1,175) (2,071) (6,776) (16,036)
Profit before income tax bR ET{SH A& A 77,973 104,417 138,048 133,969 120,978
Income tax expense FriS i (6,923) (8,982) (7,514) (19,513) (13,296)
Profit for the year E A A 71,050 95,435 130,534 114,456 107,682
Dividends gy 9,605 14,226 19,297 16,818 15,553
Attributable to: FEfh
Equity holders of RARIERFFEA
the Company 71,120 95,440 130,465 114,237 107,471
Minority interest DERERES (70) (5) 69 219 211
71,050 95,435 130,534 114,456 107,682
Financial Positions B &R
As at 31 December
BEt+t-A=+—-HLEE
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
—EERF —EEREF —EETLF —EENF —EEAF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets ERENEE 212,204 254,524 386,327 444,040 453,365
Current assets MENEE 436,965 540,371 564,742 773,620 862,757
Total assets BERAE 649,169 794,895 951,069 1,217,660 1,316,122
Shareholder’ equity e T 445,014 533,060 663,807 748,972 843,985
Non-current liabilities ERBALE 5,020 11,698 58,121 242 970 111,536
Current liabilities mEAE 199,135 250,137 229,141 225,718 360,601
Total liabilities 58 204,155 261,835 287,262 468,688 472,137
Total liabilities and equity REERER 649,169 794,895 951,069 1,217,660 1,316,122
Net current assets MEEEFE 237,830 290,234 335,601 547,902 502,156
Total assets less BB,
current liabilities nBEE 450,034 544,758 721,928 991,942 955,521
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